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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

It is my pleasure to deliver my first statement in the capacity of Chairman of the Board. Together with my fellow 
directors, I am determined to continue the endeavour in strengthening our Group’s competitiveness, with the support 
of our experienced management team and dedicated workforce.

The fashion garment industry is encountering an uncompromising environment. Label owners and retail operators 
have become increasingly sensitive in maintaining low inventory level due to rapid changes in consumer preference. 
The demand for swift replenishment of smaller volume order adds severe pressure on the supply chain. The business 
condition of the Group’s major export markets is further complicated by unstable economic and political atmospheres. 
The continued decline in the Group’s sales to the US and Europe signifies heightened challenges in these countries.

The Group began active diversification of its production bases to the Southeast Asia a few years ago. Following intensive 
development, the Group now has a sizeable plant with state-of-the-art machinery and equipment and a seasoned 
workforce in Vietnam. This facility has become the Group’s production hub for overseas orders.

Our move to deploy a significant production capacity outside of China has proven to be a wise decision for the Group’s 
sustainable development. Our Vietnam production plant offers us the agility to enlarge sales to overseas markets with 
varying import requirements. Offshore production capability also helps mitigating the Group’s exposure to imminent 
international trade conflicts. In light of growing uncertainty of the world economy and unpredictability of sophisticated 
international trade relations, the Group has to maintain flexibility of its manufacturing bases and its adaptability to ever-
shifting market condition. Despite its surging labour cost and stringent labour regulations, China remains a significant 
production centre of the Group. Our China-based production plants are instrumental for servicing the enormous 
domestic economy.

The Group’s deepened infiltration of the China market over the years has established it a solid presence in the 
country’s fashion manufacturing sector. In addition to healthy sales of fine fashion under its own label, the Group has 
also expanded its production service to local brand owners. The Group’s favourable performance in China managed 
to partly offset the decline in sales to the US during the year under review.

Despite retreat in the Group’s net loss during the year under review, the management’s mission of bringing the Group 
out of adversity has yet to complete. We will exhaust our effort to continue revamping our operation structure for 
enhancement of overall efficiency and cost-effectiveness.

ACKnoWLeDGeMent

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our appreciation to our staff at all levels for their dedication. I also need 
to thank our shareholders, bankers, customers and business partners for their support and trust, and extend my sincere 
appreciation to our fellow directors for their professional guidance. Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express 
my heartfelt gratitude to the former Chairman for his invaluable contribution to the Group during his tenure of service.

Martin tung Hau Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, June 28, 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

sUMMARy oF opeRAtInG ResULts

During the year ended March 31, 2018 (the “Year”), the Group’s performance improved with reduction in net loss 
amidst challenging operating environment. The Group’s revenue for the Year increased by 2.8 per cent year-on-year 
to approximately HK$998.1 million. During the Year, the Group registered a gross profit of HK$217.9 million, with a 
gross profit margin of 21.8 per cent, which was 5.7 percentage point higher than that of the previous year. As a result 
of the Group’s strenuous efforts in cost control and optimization of resources, and after taking into consideration of 
increases in fair values of held for trading investments and investment properties, the Group’s loss before tax was 
trimmed by 64.6 per cent to HK$42.3 million.

BUsIness RevIeW

During the Year, the United States (the “US”) gross domestic product (“GDP”) increased at rates of 1.2 per cent, 
3.1 per cent and 3.2 per cent in the first three quarters of 2017 calendar year respectively, demonstrating a healthy 
momentum. This was the first time since 2014 that the economic growth of the US economy enjoyed more than 3 
per cent growth for two consecutive quarters. The US unemployment rate fell to 4.1 per cent last year, reaching the 
lowest level for the past 17 years.

Despite steady recovery of the US economy, the demand for the Group’s fashion products was hampered by a 
return of locally manufactured garments in the US and rapidly changing consumer preference in design and materials. 
Such challenges, signified by rapid and shortened fashion cycle with smaller order amount and shorter lead time, 
resulted in the retreat in total fashion consumption amount, undermining the economic benefit of operation scale and 
affecting the profit margin of fashion garment manufacturers. Apparel sales in the US dropped by two per cent in 
2017 to US$215 billion, according to NPD Group, a market research company. A combination of the aforementioned 
factors contributed to a 12.5 per cent year-on-year decline in the Group’s revenue generated from the US market to 
approximately HK$360.2 million.

Across the northern border of the US, Canada maintained a relatively strong household spending, supported by a 
healthy job market. The Group’s sales to the country during the Year improved by 47.5 per cent year-on-year, and 
amounted to approximately HK$160.5 million, making it the third single largest market of the Group.

In the Eurozone, mature European economies experienced a gradual but slow pick up during the Year. The aftermath 
of Brexit, political turmoil in major European industrial states, along with issues of aging population, contributed to 
continued shrinkage of garment consumption in the continent. During the Year, the Group’s revenue generated from 
this market decreased by 48.4 per cent year-on-year to approximately HK$23.3 million.

The Group’s sales to its Asia market, in which China being the largest constituent, remained strong. The GDP of China 
in 2017 has exceeded 80 trillion yuan, representing an increase of 6.9 per cent from that of the previous year. China’s 
economy displayed stable development in 2017 driven by supply-side structural reform. With a mature middle class and 
a strong desire for trendy fashion from its youth population, China remained a market of enormous opportunity for the 
Group. To cater to the consumption habit of China mainland consumers, our Group has developed a comprehensive 
e-commerce platform to actively engage other online outlets for product distribution. On the other hand, strong domestic 
demand also brought orders from China mainland local garment brands to the Group’s advanced production plants 
in Guangdong Province. Increase in domestic orders enabled the Group to further reduce its reliance on overseas 
customers. During the Year, the Group recorded a growth in sales to Asia by 11.7 per cent to approximately HK$447.7 
million, of which China accounted for HK$425.7 million.

The retailing business of the Group in China attributed considerable revenue and gross profit to the Group in the 
Year. Thanks to the strong growth in online sales through the e-commerce platform and the management’s stringent 
inventory and cost control, the retailing business improved its gross profit margin and contributed an operating profit 
of approximately HK$1.1 million to the Group for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group continued to strengthen the manufacturing capacities in Dongguan and Zhongshan in 
China with automation investment. The relocation of its Shenzhen manufacturing operations to Dongguan has been 
progressing according to schedule. Leveraging the advanced facilities of its Dongguan plant, the Group is able to 
further optimize production efficiency. Substantial relocation compensation for employees incurred during the Group’s 
production facility rationalization had inevitably led to the increase in administrative expenses of the Group during the 
Year.

High production costs and tightened labour regulations in traditional garment manufacturing hubs continued to drive 
production orders to lower-cost emerging economies. During the year under review, the Group committed further 
resources to its Vietnam plant for automation and strengthened staff training, resulting in enhanced efficiency and 
capacity.

The Group’s e-commerce park transformed from previous idle factory plant in Hangzhou of China continued to generate 
stable revenue and recurrent cash flow. The Group’s held for trading investment in a basket of equities also displayed 
positive return during the Year.

pRospeCts

The US economy grew at a rate of only 2.2 per cent in the first quarter of 2018. The nation’s consumer spending 
eased to a 1.1 per cent in the first quarter, the weakest in five years, although it began to bounce back since March 
2018. The US’s recent announcement of sanction against China and escalation of a trade war between the two giant 
economies are expected to cloud the atmosphere of China’s export to US, and may add uncertainty to China’s garment 
manufacturing and export sectors. On the other side of the Atlantic, unstable political situation in Europe is likely to 
hinder fashion consumption of the continent.

China’s economy reported a GDP growth of 6.8 per cent in the first quarter of 2018, topping most expectation. 
Following the State government’s avocation of superseding quantitative growth with qualitative growth in economic 
development, it is generally expected that the Chinese economy will maintain a mild single digit growth under 
government policy guidance. The Group will closely monitor the development in the Sino-US trade relationship and to 
assess possible impact on its export to the US market. On the other hand, substantial emphasis will be placed on the 
Group’s intensified penetration of the China market.

While rationalizing its production bases in Guangdong Province, advanced automated equipment is being added to 
the Group’s plants in Dongguan and Zhongshan. Accelerated automation at the abovementioned facilities will enable 
the Group to mitigate its exposure to rising labour costs and to effectively standardize product quality.

In responding to deteriorating relationship between China and US, the Group is expediting capacity expansion and 
efficiency enhancement at its Vietnam plant, allowing it the agility to cater for any redirected orders for the US market. 
Additional resources are also being committed by the Group for further Vietnam plant’s efficiency upgrade. In addition, 
joint venture with local manufacturers is also under consideration to expedite the Group’s capacity expansion in the 
country. Further diversification and intensified automation in the Group’s Vietnam production base offer it optimum 
flexibility to the Group in reacting to fluctuation of Renminbi and minimize its exposure to changing labour policies 
and rising labour costs in China. The Vietnam plant has been developed into the Group’s major regional operational 
hub. The Group is considering further enlargement of its manufacturing capacity in lower-cost Asian countries, either 
through setting up its own facilities or collaboration with local partners.

The market operating environment is becoming less predictable and increasingly volatile. The dramatic change in the 
US diplomatic and trade policies under current government administration have brought unprecedented uncertainty 
to the world’s political and economic landscapes. The Group needs to stay alert of emerging trade barriers and other 
economic constraints that may impact on its earning power and its operations as a whole. The Group intends to fully 
utilize the advantage of its diversified distribution of production bases to swiftly transfer production orders addressing 
different market requirements.



ANNUAL REPORT 2018   TUNGTEX (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED8

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

It is imperative for the Group to maintain a streamlined and highly effective operation structure to survive the severe 
challenges through realigning of its assets and operations. The Group is committed to strengthen its return to 
shareholders via enhancement of operations and cost efficiency.

CApItAL eXpenDItURe

During the Year, the Group incurred approximately HK$9.9 million capital expenditure as compared to approximately 
HK$10.5 million of the last fiscal year. Such capital expenditure mainly represented regular replacement, upgrading 
and automation of production facilities, and leasehold improvement of the Group.

LIQUIDIty AnD FInAnCIAL ResoURCes

Throughout the Year, the Group’s financial position continued to be prudently and precisely managed and remained 
healthy. At the end of the Year, the Group’s cash level decreased to HK$226.4 million (of which HK$116.9 million 
was pledged bank deposits) as compared to HK$320.2 million (of which HK$96.0 million was pledged bank deposits) 
of last year. Most of the bank balance was placed in United States dollars (“USD”), Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and 
Renminbi (“RMB”) short term deposits with major banks. Total bank borrowings of HK$145.9 million, which were mainly 
denominated in USD, HKD and RMB, consisted of HK$135.5 million short-term bank borrowings and HK$10.4 million 
long-term bank borrowings. The Group had no borrowings at fixed interest rates during the Year. The gearing ratio 
(total bank borrowings to total equity) was 31.2%. The Group is of the opinion that, after taking into consideration of 
the internal available financial resources and the current banking facilities, the Group has sufficient funds to finance 
its operations and to meet the financial obligations of its business when they fall due. During the Year, working capital 
cycle remained under stringent control. Trade receivable turnover remained 46 days for both years. Inventory turnover 
increased from last year’s 53 days to 67 days, mainly due to the higher inventory level as at the year-end date to 
support the relatively higher order volume for delivery in the first quarter subsequent to the year-end date. Financial 
resources remained under stringent control where financial condition remained healthy.

At the end of the Year, certain land and buildings with an aggregate net book value of approximately HK$15.6 million 
(2017: HK$18.0 million) were pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

sIGnIFICAnt InvestMents

As at March 31, 2018, the held-for-trading investments of the Group amounted to approximately HK$39,540,000 which 
consist of securities of four companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
Set out below is a breakdown of the Group’s held-for-trading investments as at March 31, 2018 and their performance 
during the year ended March 31, 2018:

Description of investments

Market/fair 
value as at 
March 31, 

2018 

Realised 
fair value 

gain/(loss)

Unrealised 
fair value 

gain/(loss)

percentage
to the

Group’s
audited total 
assets as at

March 31,
2018

percentage
to the

Group’s
total

securities
investments

as at
March 31,

2018

Carrying
value as at
March 31,

2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EPI (Holdings) Limited  
 (stock code: 689) (a) 35,447 294 18,915 4.43% 89.65% –
Hong Kong Exchanges &  
 Clearing Limited  
 (stock code: 388) – 294 – – – –
Other listed securities (b) 4,093 100 1,077 0.51% 10.35% –

39,540 688 19,992 4.94% 100% –

Notes:

(a) This investment represented 38,115,000 shares (“EPI Shares”) of EPI (Holdings) Limited (“EPI”), representing approximately 0.76% of the total 
issued shares of EPI as at March 31, 2018. During the Year, the Group acquired a total of 39,225,000 EPI Shares at the aggregate consideration 
of HK$17,025,525 and disposed of a total of 1,110,000 EPI Shares at the consideration of HK$788,110.

Based on the annual report (“EPI 2017 Annual Report”) of EPI for the year ended December 31, 2017, EPI together with its subsidiaries (“EPI 
Group”) is engaged in the business of petroleum exploration and production, money lending and investment in securities. As disclosed in the 
EPI 2017 Annual Report, for the year ended December 31, 2017, the EPI Group recorded a revenue of HK$57,870,000 (which is decreased 
by 7% compared to the prior year), and a loss for the year of HK$54,855,000 (which is increased by 76.5% compared to the prior year). As 
disclosed in the EPI 2017 Annual Report, the management of EPI will seize business and investment opportunities with good prospects aiming 
to enhance value to EPI’s shareholders. The EPI Group has also entered into a limited partnership agreement with two independent parties to 
invest in a series of projects in the smart city big data industry in China.

(b) These equity securities listed in Hong Kong represented the Group’s investments in 3 companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board 
or the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Each of such investments has a market value or fair value that account for less than 0.5% of the Group’s 
audited total assets as at March 31, 2018.

The Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong remains to be volatile in the second half of 2018 which may 
affect the performance of the Group’s securities investments. Looking forward, the Board believes that the performance 
of the securities investments of the Group will be dependent on the financial and operating performance of investee 
companies and market sentiment which are affected by factors such as interest rate movements and performance 
of the macro economy. In order to mitigate the associated risk, the Group will continuously remain cautious in the 
allocation of resources and the identification and capture of appropriate securities investment opportunities and will 
review its investment strategy regularly so as to take appropriate actions whenever necessary in response to changes 
in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key peRFoRMAnCe InDICAtoRs (“KpI”)

The KPI judged by the directors to be effective in measuring the development, performance or position of the business 
of the Group include:

percentage of consolidated cost of sales

Percentage of consolidated cost of sales decreased to 78.2% (2017: 83.9%). The comparison of percentage of 
consolidated cost of sales is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Revenue 998,070 970,969
Cost of sales (780,140) (815,034)

Percentage of consolidated cost of sales 78.2% 83.9%
 

selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses

The comparison of selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses to last year is as follows:

2018 2017 %
HK$’000 HK$’000 Changes

 

Selling and distribution costs 129,702 130,453 (0.6%)
Administrative expenses 159,523 149,356 6.8%

 

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“eBItDA”)

The negative EBITDA for the fiscal year is HK$17.3 million (2017: HK$96.1 million). The comparison of EBITDA is as 
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (47,311) (120,457)
Add:
 Finance costs 5,024 3,301
 Income tax expense 4,964 762
 Depreciation 19,181 19,543
 Amortisation 801 796

EBITDA (17,341) (96,055)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

operating loss

The Group incurred an operating loss before tax of HK$70.4 million for the fiscal year (2017: HK$119.6 million). The 
comparison of operating loss is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Loss before tax (42,347) (119,695)
Less:
 Increase in fair value of held for trading investments 19,992 –
 Gain on sales of held for trading investments 688 –
 Increase (decrease) in fair value of investment properties 7,383 (192)
 Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments – 51

 

Operating loss before tax (70,410) (119,554)
 

Loss before tax

Loss before tax for the fiscal year is HK$42.3 million (2017: HK$119.7 million).

Loss per share

The Group’s loss per share for the fiscal year is HK10.0 cents (2017: HK28.3 cents).

Inventory turnover days

Inventory turnover days increased by 14 days to 67 days for the year ended March 31, 2018 (2017: 53 days). The 
comparison of inventory turnover days is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Revenue 998,070 970,969
Inventory as at March 31 182,246 140,015

 

Inventory turnover days 67 days 53 days
 

trade receivable turnover days

Trade receivable turnover days remained 46 days for both years. The comparison of trade receivable turnover days 
is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Revenue 998,070 970,969
Trade and bills receivables as at March 31 126,051 121,338

 

Trade receivable turnover days 46 days 46 days
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

tReAsURy poLICy

The Group continued to adopt prudent policies consistently to hedge exchange rate and interest rate risks associated 
with our core business. The majority of our export sales are denominated in USD, while incomes from our business in 
China are denominated in RMB and a tiny portion destined for the European export markets is denominated in EURO 
(“EUR”). As a substantial portion of the purchases and overheads are denominated in RMB and the EUR exchange rate 
fluctuation may be significant, the Group entered into forward contracts to hedge the risks as deemed appropriate.

HUMAn ResoURCes

As at March 31, 2018, the Group has approximately 3,300 employees as compared to 4,100 as at March 31, 2017. 
Such decrease is mainly attributable to the cessation of certain production lines in Shenzhen factory in the process 
of rationalization during the Year. The Group hires, inspires, retains and rewards competent staff with dedication to 
develop their careers in line with its core corporate values and strategic goals. The Group offers career development 
opportunities, job satisfaction via empowerment, harmonious teamwork and competitive remuneration package.

Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group amounted to approximately HK$303.8 million for the Year 
(2017: approximately HK$335.7 million). Remuneration of the employees is determined with reference to market terms 
and the performance, qualification and experience of individual employees. In addition to a basic salary, year-end 
discretionary bonuses are offered to those staff with outstanding performance to attract and retain eligible employees 
to contribute to the Group.

LItIGAtIon

As at March 31, 2018, the Group was involved in a litigation, details of which are set out in note 33 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

teRMInAtIon oF pRoposeD MAJoR AnD ConneCteD DIsposAL

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated September 4, 2017.

On September 4, 2017, the Company (as vendor) and Happy Splendid Limited (a company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands with limited liability and owned as to 50% by Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (“Mr. Benson Tung”) and 50% by 
Madam Wong Fung Lin (“Madam Wong”))(“Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“SP Agreement”), 
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to sell and assign and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to 
purchase (i) the entire issued share capital of Sing Yang (Overseas) Limited (“SYOL”) and such amount as equals the face 
value of the entire sum of shareholder’s loan owing by SYOL and its wholly-owned subsidiary Shenzhen Betu Fashion 
Ltd. to the Company as the completion date of the SP Agreement and (ii) the entire issued share capital of Tungtex 
Trading Company Limited (“TTCL”) (collectively, the “Disposal”) at the aggregate consideration of HK$157,000,000. As 
the applicable percentage ratios under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in respect of the Disposal exceeded 25% but were less than 75%, the Disposal 
constituted a major transaction of the Company. Since the Purchaser is owned as to 50% by Mr. Benson Tung and 
50% by Madam Wong who are the ultimate controlling shareholders of the Company, the Purchaser is a connected 
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal also constituted a connected 
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On September 4, 2017, the Company entered into a framework purchase agreement (“Framework Purchase Agreement”) 
with TTCL which, subject to completion of the SP Agreement and approval from the independent shareholders of the 
Company, sets out the basis upon which the Group (excluding SYOL, TTCL and their subsidiaries which formed the 
subject of the Disposal) will purchase and TTCL and its subsidiaries will sell such garment and fabric products as may 
be agreed between the parties. Upon completion of the SP Agreement, the Purchaser will hold 100% issued share 
capital of SYOL and TTCL respectively, thus TTCL will become a connected person of the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement will therefore 
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated January 12, 2018. As considerable time had 
elapsed since the negotiation and signing of the SP Agreement, the Board considered that it would be in the best 
interest of the Company not to proceed with the Disposal. On January 12, 2018, the Company and the Purchaser 
entered into the termination agreement for the SP Agreement to terminate the SP Agreement. Consequentially, on 
January 12, 2018, the Company and TTCL also entered into a termination agreement to terminate the Framework 
Purchase Agreement.

The Disposal was intended to be a structural part of the strategic plan to uplift the Group’s position in the value 
chain by the restructuring of the manufacturing business and disposal of the high-cost retailing business in order to 
reallocate more resources to more profitable areas such as the trading business. Save as disclosed in this section 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Company does not currently have any material development on 
the restructure of the manufacturing business and disposing the retailing business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT
pRInCIpLes

Tungtex (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) 
is pleased to share this Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report which aims to demonstrate its efforts 
on sustainability developments to its stakeholders. This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG 
Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group cares for the community and creates value for stakeholders including its 
shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, creditors, regulators and the general public. The Group believes that by 
strictly following with regulatory requirements on employment, human rights, labour rights, supply chain management, 
product responsibility and anti-corruption, it will enable the Group to thoroughly mitigate the risks which may arise 
from these ESG issues.

For the environmental aspect, this report will focus on Tungtex Fashions (Vietnam) Limited (“Vietnam Tungtex”), 
Zhongshan Tungtex Silk Garments Co. Limited (中山同得仕絲綢服裝有限公司) (“Zhongshan Tungtex”) and Dongguan 
Tungtex Garments Co. Limited (東莞同得仕時裝有限公司) (“Dongguan Tungtex”) which are the garment manufacturers of 
a wide variety of ladies woven fashion wear, casual wear and suit pieces. This report has primarily highlighted the major 
performance and disclosure implemented in Year 2018 for the three environmental aspects and eight social aspects.

stAKeHoLDeR enGAGeMent

The stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the Group. The Group recognises the mechanism 
for ongoing communications established with the stakeholders by building online and offline communications channels, 
as well as providing the stakeholders with timely reports on the strategic planning and performance regarding 
sustainability of the Group. In addition, the Group consults all stakeholders on its recommendations and propositions 
to ensure the business practices to meet the expectations of the stakeholders.

The stakeholders include the Board, employees, government/regulatory authorities, customers, suppliers, communities, 
shareholders/institutions and individual investors, media and nongovernmental organisations. The Group will engage in 
discussions with the stakeholders about the relevant issues through various channels such as regular board meetings, 
staff meeting and other daily communications and reporting.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG issues Materiality Matrix
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# Issues Category Results

1 Greenhouse gas emissions Environmental issues High
2 Energy consumption Environmental issues High
3 Water consumption Environmental issues High
4 Waste Environmental issues Medium
5 Use of raw materials and packaging materials Environmental issues Medium
6 Customer engagement in environmental issues Environmental issues High
7 Use of chemicals Environmental issues Medium
8 Local community engagement Social issues Medium
9 Community investment Social issues Medium
10 Occupational health and safety Social issues High
11 Labour standards in supply chain Social issues High
12 Training and development Social issues High
13 Employee welfare Social issues High
14 Inclusion and equal opportunities Social issues High
15 Talent attraction and retention Social issues High
16 Economic value generated Operating issues High
17 Corporate governance Operating issues High
18 Anti-corruption Operating issues High
19 Supply chain management Operating issues High
20 Customer satisfaction Operating issues High
21 Customer privacy Operating issues High

In addition to compliance with the ESG Guide, the Group will include more details regarding the issues to which the 
stakeholders pay greater attention in the Report. Meanwhile, the materiality assessment results will provide the Group 
with guidance on formulating strategic objectives and plans to resolve the ESG issues for the coming year, as well as 
on continuing to push forward its sustainability development.

MAteRIALIty AssessMent

In 2018, the Company undertook its comprehensive 
materiality assessment exercise. This involved conducting 
interviews and/or surveys with internal and external 
stakeholders to identify the most significant operating, 
environmental and social impacts towards their business.

With reference to the disclosable scope as required 
under the ESG Reporting Guide, as well as taking into 
consideration the corporate business characteristics, 
we identified and determined 22 issues, which cover 
environmental and training and development, occupational 
health and safety, labour standards in supply chain, 
corporate governance, customer privacy, anti-corruption, 
and community investments.
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eMIssIons

The largest environmental footprint of Zhongshan Tungtex’s operation was in electricity consumption, which indirectly 
contributed to greenhouse gases (such as carbon dioxide) emissions. The electricity is consumed in areas of the office, 
factory building, staff canteen and dormitory, of which electricity is intensively consumed by lighting system as well as 
steaming and ironing equipment in the factory building. To manage electricity consumption, the Group has established 
relevant monitoring procedures named ZS Tungtex Environmental Protection Policies (ZS Tungtex 環境保護政策) to 
regulate the efficient use of electricity by Zhongshan Tungtex.

Zhongshan Tungtex burns biofuel in boilers and related 
facilities to generate heat and steam for ironing in 
production process and for hot water supply to the staff 
dormitory. Zhongshan Tungtex has added dust filters 
and monitors the biofuel boilers’ operation regularly 
to ensure the biofuels are completely burnt. Such 
arrangements can reduce the emission of ash, smog 
or dust. Zhongshan Tungtex also uses natural gas for 
cooking in the staff canteen.

The use of biofuel and natural gas instead of diesel has 
significantly reduced the emission of particulates as well 
as air pollution. The biofuel boilers can provide stable 
steam supply with high efficiency. They can reduce the 
workload of the operators and maintenance expenditure 
as compared with using traditional steam boilers. The ZS 
Tungtex Environmental Protection Policies (ZS Tungtex 
環境保護政策) also requires Zhongshan Tungtex to 
check the efficiency of the boilers regularly.
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eMIssIons (Continued)

The sewage treatment facilities established by 
Zhongshan Tungtex mainly process sewage arising from 
textile manufacturing operations. Zhongshan Tungtex 
has obtained Waste Water Discharge Permit (排污許
可証) which is issued by Zhongshan Environmental 
Protection Bureau, with a valid period from September 
6, 2012 to September 5, 2017 and September 18, 2017 
to September 17, 2020.

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex set management measures for domestic waste and water 
consumption in staff dormitory and offices, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex remind staff 
and relevant persons in charge to process daily waste properly and to treasure water resources and avoid wasting.

Non-hazardous waste from the factories in Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex includes 
packaging of product, paper for office use and kitchen waste. The factories in Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex 
and Dongguan Tungtex have contributed their best effort to minimise the impact on the environment by using recyclable 
raw materials or supplementary materials in the production process. The factories in Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan 
Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have promoted separation of wastes such as cartons and plastic bottles, which were 
placed in certain areas assigned to recycled suppliers for collection.
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eMIssIons (Continued)

Gaseous Fuel Consumption

environmental performance Unit
vietnam 
tungtex

Zhongshan 
tungtex

Dongguan 
tungtex total

Towngas units 288 – 85,761 86,049
– NOx Kg 0.0556 – 16.5484 16.6040
– SOx Kg 0.0003 – 0.0823 0.0826

Liquefied petroleum gas Litres 24 1,425 9,300 10,749
– NOx Kg 0.004 0.264 1.720 1.988
– SOx Kg 0.00002 0.00131 0.00856 0.00989

Natural gas Cubic meter – 61,557 – 61,557
– CO2 Kg – 3,351 – 3,351
– CH4 Kg – 63 – 63
– N2O Kg – 6 – 6

Fuel consumption of motor vehicles by Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex motor vehicles 
are the major source of nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate matter (“PM”) emissions. The 
motor vehicles are strictly used for picking up the staff and business activities.

Gaseous emissions from the Use of Motor vehicles

environmental performance Unit
vietnam 
tungtex

Zhongshan 
tungtex

Dongguan 
tungtex total

NOx Kg 6.8 26.0 2.5 35.3
SOx Kg 0.2 1 0.1 1.3
PM Kg 0.5 1.9 0.2 2.6
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eMIssIons (Continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emission Unit
vietnam 
tungtex

Zhongshan 
tungtex

Dongguan 
tungtex total

GHG emission (Scope 1) Kg 
CO2e

34,230 157,155 229,650 421,035

GHG emission (Scope 2)* Kg 
CO2e

202,901 1,045,058 575,960 1,823,919

GHG emission (Scope 3) Kg 
CO2e

18,562 171,396 23,210 213,168

Total GHG emission Kg 
CO2e

255,693 1,373,609 828,820 2,458,122

Total production unit Pcs 939,952 1,956,727 528,489 3,425,168
GHG emission Intensity 
 (Scope 1,2 and 3) per 
 number of production unit

Kg 
CO2e/

Pcs

0.3 0.7 1.6 0.7

* emission factor is sourced from the China Southern Power Grid in 2016. The figures are calculated in accordance with the “Reporting Guidance 
on Environmental KPIs”.

Scope 1: It represents the gaseous fuel, diesel and fuel from consumption from electricity generators, motor vehicles and boilers.

Scope 2: It represents the electricity purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3: It represents the paper waste disposed at landfills and water used.

environmental performance Unit
vietnam 
tungtex

Zhongshan 
tungtex

Dongguan 
tungtex total

Hazardous waste produced Kg Note 1 Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
Intensity per number of 
 production unit

Tonnes 
CO2e/

Pcs

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Non-hazardous waste produced Tonnes 24 144 55.5 223.5
Intensity per number of 
 production unit

Tonnes 
CO2e/

Pcs

0.000026 0.000074 0.000105 0.000065

Note 1: Hazardous waste produced by Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex are minimal, therefore, no relevant figures are 
quantified.
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Use oF ResoURCes

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities on the environment by implementation of 
environmental protection programmes. In particular, a number of initiative measures designed to conserve natural 
resources were introduced to promote employee’s awareness in order to achieve efficient utilisation of natural resources.

As mentioned in the above “Emission” section, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have a 
series of policies and procedures, including but not limited to Tungtex Energy Saving Plan and Tungtex Environmental 
Protection Policies, to minimise the electricity consumed by the employees in the office and factory premises of Vietnam 
Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex.

Employees are encouraged to switch on the computers only when using them and switch them off after office hours. 
For policies on the efficient use of water resources in the offices, staff is encouraged to save water at pantry. The 
drinking water containers were well maintained to prevent leakage. According to Tungtex Environmental Protection 
Policies (Tungtex 環境保護政策), the scrap of production process will be reclassified and the recyclable scrap will be 
sold to recognised recyclable waste collector.

Regarding measures to save energy, the Group closely monitors the level of energy consumption GHG emissions and 
waste disposed from Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex. Every year, Vietnam Tungtex, 
Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex are required to set their respective energy and carbon reduction targets, 
and come up with feasible measures to achieve them. The details and results achieved are listed as follows:

Light-emitting diode (LED)

Part of lightings in the factories in Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have been installed 
light-emitting diode instead of compact fluorescent lamps which have saved much electricity as compared with compact 
fluorescent lamps.

Electricity conservation

Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have extensively installed energy efficient motors into the garment sewing 
machines, which consume less electricity and have longer useful life than traditional motors.

Water conservation

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex set management measures for water consumption in 
factory, staff dormitory and offices. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex also remind staff 
and relevant persons in charge to use water properly and to treasure water resources and avoid wasting.

Installed “蒸氣回水利用節能器” for energy saving

Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have installed the “蒸氣回水利用節能器” which could sharply reduce the 
consumption of fuel, electricity and water by the boiler.
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Use oF ResoURCes (Continued)

Installed a Recycle Steam system for fuel saving

Vietnam Tungtex has installed the Recycle Steam System, which could sharply reduce the consumption of fuel to burn 
the water to become steam.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with 《中華人民共和國環境保護法》,《中華人民共和國水污
染防治法》and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and 
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste during 
the reporting period.

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance had been incurred during the reporting period.

Use of resources data from the operations of the Group are set out as follows:

environmental performance Unit
vietnam 
tungtex

Zhongshan 
tungtex

Dongguan 
tungtex total

energy Consumption
Electricity Consumption KWh 660,700 3,402,990 1,875,479 5,939,169
Electricity Intensity KWh per 

production 
unit (pcs)

0.7 1.74 3.55 1.73

Water Consumption
Water Consumption M3 26,400 244,852 33,157 304,409
Water Intensity M3 per 

production 
unit (pcs)

0.03 0.13 0.06 0.09

packaging material Consumption
Packaging material used for 
 finished products

Tonnes 10 258 30,158 30,426

Intensity per number of 
 production unit

Tonnes 
CO2e/Pcs

0.00001 0.00013 0.05706 0.00888
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tHe envIRonMent AnD nAtURAL ResoURCes

The Group is accountable for the environmental impacts of their operations. The Group is a supplier of some active 
members of the Sustainable Apparel Coalition, and has been using its Higg Index, a groundbreaking industry tool 
designed to measure environmental and social performance and the sustainability impacts of the operations and 
to enhance the efficiencies and improve the operation of the business. Ultimately, the goal of the Higg Index is 
to understand and quantify sustainability impacts, and to create a common way of communicating sustainability 
to consumers. Since 2013, the Group introduced the Higg Index’s social and environmental assessments to their 
operations. The Group has worked with its customers to set energy saving target, helping the Group to improve their 
performance while reducing cost.

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different kinds of recycling activities and minimise the use of 
nature resources. In Year 2018, there is no significant impact on the environment and natural resources from the 
operations of the Group, in particular, the office and factory.

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex actively promote sustainable development and 
environmental protection. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have implemented a series of 
measures on utilisation of resources and the operations of office and factory premises in order to minimise environmental 
impacts of the local areas.

In the Year 2018, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex 
and Dongguan Tungtex have actively introduced 
environmental protection measures in the office spaces, 
including (i) priority use of energy-saving lighting and 
electrical appliances; (ii) turning off electric equipment 
and lighting during non-office hours; and (iii) reuse of 
papers and driving forward paperless office gradually. In 
addition, the Group also encourages its employees to save 
resources, cherish food and avoid waste of resources by 
beginning with trivial things.

eMpLoyMent

Human resources are important for the realisation of the strategic goals of an enterprise. The Group always empowers 
human resources management. The Group has enhanced the mechanism for the introduction and training of talents. 
The Group provides its employees with a favourable career development platform by providing a safe and healthy 
working environment and safeguarding their interests, thereby helping them achieve personal value as well as career 
development.

The Group believes that quality talents are important assets of an enterprise and also the cornerstone for sustaining 
corporate development. The Group is committed to providing a fair and competitive compensation package to attract 
and retain quality talents, in the form of a basic salary, incentives bonus, mandatory provident fund, and other fringe 
benefits. Remuneration packages are reviewed periodically. Employees are entitled to various fringe benefits, such as 
annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and medical coverage, in accordance with local regulations.

The Group has a set of comprehensive human resources management policy, namely the Tungtex Employees 
Handbook, Tungtex Code of Conduct and Tungtex Guidelines for Recruitment to provide guidances and requirements 
for employees behaviour. The Tungtex Employees Handbook has stated the areas of compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, appraisal, training and benefits. The Group has always strictly observed 
the relevant legislations in our offices and factory locations regarding the equal employment opportunities, labour and 
forced labour.
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eMpLoyMent (Continued)

The Group has implemented in place the policies and procedures in accordance with the employment regulations, relevant 
policies and guidance of the relevant jurisdictions where it operates, including the Employment Ordinance, the Employees’ 
Compensation Ordinance and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, etc. in Hong Kong; and the Labour Law of 
the PRC (中華人民共和國勞動法) and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (中華人民共和國勞動合同法) in the PRC and 
the Labour Code of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam.

The Group has its internal procedure to report employees’ information regularly in order to review employment practices 
so as to avoid any non-compliance. Furthermore, the Group strictly complies with the internal recruitment procedure 
to ensure no employments of child labour and forced labour.

Distribution of Workforce classified by Different catalogues for Zhongshan tungtex, Dongguan 
tungtex and vietnam tungtex

By Gender

67.85%

Male

32.15%

Female

By Age Group

55.54%

4.51%

39.95%

Under 30 years old
30-50 years old
Over 50 years old

By employment category

88.76%

1.22%

10.02% Entry level
Middle level
Senior level

By academic qualifications

11.20%

2.83%

23.01%

62.96%

Bachelor or above

Others

College
Technical secondary school

The Group believes that each employee should be treated equally and ensures that employees in the workplace or job 
applicants during the recruitment process will not be subjected to any form of discrimination. All employees and job 
applicants are assessed based on their skills, qualification and performance irrespective of their ages, marital status, 
races, religions and nationality, gender, disability, sexual orientation or political background.



ANNUAL REPORT 2018   TUNGTEX (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED24

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

eMpLoyMent (Continued)

The Group emphasises on equal opportunities for 
all personnel in respect of hiring, pay rates, training 
and development, promotion and other terms of 
employment. The Group has diversified cultures 
including the employees with different genders, ages, 
skills and education backgrounds in order to achieve 
the most suitable composition and balance.

In order to help local groups integrating into the society, 
Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex employ 8 
and 5 staffs respectively who are physically disabled or 
mentally handicapped during the Year 2018. The Group 
strives to establish harmonious labour relationships. The 
Group protects the rights of staff by providing break time 
and leave days in accordance with relevant government 
laws and regulations.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that has a significant impact 
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on the Group during the Year 2018. In addition, there was 
no non-compliance with relevant law and regulations that resulted in significant fines or sanctions in the Year 2018.
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HeALtH AnD sAFety

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex are committed to complying with requirement of 
applicable laws and management principles on health and safety. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan 
Tungtex have established a series of monitoring procedures in relation to safety management. In addition, health and 
safety facilities are installed throughout the factory buildings.

The Group has implemented comprehensive emergency fire drill on semi-annually basis to enhance employee risk 
prevention and crisis management. A series of fire and safety drills were held under the plan of Year 2018. The plan 
includes training on controlling infectious diseases in the workplace, preventing heatstroke in hot working environments, 
personal protective equipment safety, hazardous chemical labeling as well as storage and safety training.

To promote the employee’s awareness of environment, 
health and safety, the Group has set up an 
“Environmental, Health and Safety Committees” which 
comprises managers from various departments. The 
committees held meeting regularly in the Year of 2018.

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan 
Tungtex have equipped its factory with fire-fighting 
facilities such as fire extinguishers. Designated staff 
conducts inspection from time to time so as to ensure 
the exit passageways are clear and unblocked. In 
addition, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex 
established volunteer firemen team to monitor the fire-
fighting facilities equipped in the factories. Employees of 
Zhongshan Tungtex participated in a fire drill on January 
3, 2018 in this photo.

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have stringent policies named Tungtex Sharp Tools 
Management System, Tungtex Log Out Tag Out Procedure and Tungtex Guidelines for Employees’ Safety which are 
implemented in place to periodically review the functionality of machinery and equipment as well as working place 
condition during the production process. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex continuously 
reduce workload intensity for frontline staff and improve the working environment. In 2018, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan 
Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have arranged the first aid training for their employees.



ANNUAL REPORT 2018   TUNGTEX (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED26

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HeALtH AnD sAFety (Continued)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety  
(中華人民共和國安全生產法), Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurance of the People’s Republic of China (中華人民 
共和國工傷保險條例), Law on Occupational Safety and Health in Vietnam and other applicable laws and regulations that 
has a significant impact on the Group relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards during the Year 2018. In addition, no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted 
in significant fine or sanction in the Year 2018.

DeveLopMent AnD tRAInInG

The Group strives to provide an environment where the employees can grow professionally and develop their career 
path that meets the long-term growth of the business simultaneously. In view of that, the Group always encourages 
its staff to participate in the continuous learning activities.

The Group provides training to its directors with regular reading materials to ensure that they keep abreast of the latest 
regulatory requirements, corporate governance practices, financial information and market trends. Vietnam Tungtex, 
Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex provide training to its employees which focus on safe operations of 
machinery and equipment, learning new techniques as well as managerial enhancements.

The health and safety of employees are the basis of smooth operation. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and 
Dongguan Tungtex actively promote the safety strategy, continuous improves responsibility, implements safety risk 
prevention and process control and the safety training, to strengthen the awareness of safety for the employees at 
all levels.

LABoUR stAnDARDs

The Group fully understands that exploitation of child and forced labour is universally condemned, and therefore takes 
the responsibilities against child and forced labour very seriously. The policy named Juvenile Employment Management 
Policy is implemented in place to ensure that no person who is underage or under coercion is hired and, if any such 
case is identified during the recruitment process, it will be reported to the relevant authorities.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with labor law and other applicable laws and regulations that has 
a significant impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on the Group in Vietnam and PRC during the Year 2018.

In addition, there was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted in significant fines or sanctions 
in the Year 2018.
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sUppLy CHAIn MAnAGeMent

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and regulations that govern its business. The Group always adheres 
to international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased tender processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group offers their contractors encouragement and supports in their efforts to further improve their sustainability 
performance. Good business relationships help the Group to manage their potential environmental and social risks 
while enhancing the efficiency of their operations.

The Group fully understands the importance of environmental protection and environmental friendly production. The 
Group takes up social responsibilities and cooperates with its stakeholders including suppliers and customers to make 
contributions to the conservation of the environment. The Group implements stringent controls on all manufacturing 
procedures covering product design, purchases of raw materials, production and deliveries.

Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have policy named Tungtex Approval and Management 
Procedure for Contractors which requires the newly hired suppliers and contractors to have demonstrable track records 
of performance excellence. The Group requires their suppliers to act responsibly and adhere to their environmental, 
social and governance standards. In a situation where several suppliers can meet procurement requirements, the Group 
will select those with a good reputation for being environmentally and socially responsible and/or that hold relevant 
environmental certificates.

As part of enforcing and adhering to the international supply chain security standards, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan 
Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex have assessed its supply chain business partners to identify, mitigate and eliminate 
potential security risks.
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pRoDUCt ResponsIBILIty

The Group places a high priority on promoting customer satisfaction in terms of its products and services. Strenuous 
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the laws and regulations relating to product health and safety, advertising, 
labeling and privacy matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Group requires its people to comply 
with the applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

To ensure that quality is a major factor at each stage of its operations, each department is tasked with achieving their 
own quality based targets devised in consideration of both the industry and market standards. Records are kept at 
every stage to ensure both the efficiency and maintenance of product criterion.

Before Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex’s products are dispatched, they are subject to the 
internal quality control standards. Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex also take the added 
initiative on following up on every purchase with consumers to ensure that products were inspected before delivery. 
Should there be any issues with its products after delivery, those products will be initiated on both due compensation 
and recall.

Product quality and safety are stated in employees’ manuals and are clearly communicated to the employees. In 
addition, Vietnam Tungtex, Zhongshan Tungtex and Dongguan Tungtex run training sessions for its relevant staff, 
suppliers and business partners in respect of product responsibilities.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with Law of the People’s Republic of China and Law of 
Socialist Republic of Vietnam on relevant regulations and standards, such as product quality, technical regulations and 
other applicable laws and regulations that has a significant impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling 
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress on the Group during the Year 
2018. In addition, there was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted in significant fines or 
sanctions in the Year 2018.
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AntI-CoRRUptIon

The Group has policy named《反貪污反賄賂控制程序》regarding bribery and corruption in any form or at any level. In 
addition, the Bribery, Gifts & Entertainment Policy sets out the requirements and practices as regards the prevention, 
identification, and handling of any instances of alleged or proven bribery or corruption. The induction process for new 
employees includes extensive training on the anti-corruption measures.

The designated hotlines and emails are available on the Company’s website. The Group conducts regular review on 
its business practices, anti-corruption measures and guidelines as well as reported improprieties investigation.

The Group establishes an effective whistle-blowing policy for reporting suspected irregularities, fraud and corruption via 
specified channels. The Group also continues to improve its internal control and monitoring system. If any irregularies 
are identified, the Group takes immediate action and adopts a zero tolerance approach to corruption.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, Anti-Unfair Competition 
Law of the People’s Republic of China (中華人民共和國反不正當競爭法), Law on Competition in Vietnam and other 
applicable laws and regulations that has a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering during the Year 2018. In addition, there was no legal case concerning corruption brought against 
the Group or its employees in the Year 2018.
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CoMMUnIty InvestMent

On November 27, 2017, Zhongshan Tungtex provided sponsorship and arranged the police force of Zhongshan Torch 
Development Zone to install the intelligent sensor motorcycle alarm for local citizen and staff of Zhongshan Tungtex in 
order to enhance the security of personal property in Zhongshan.

The RMIT University in Ho Chi Minh City invited general 
manager of Vietnam Tungtex, Mr. Amen Chin, as a main 
lecturer of a career development seminar. Mr. Amen Chin 
shares his solid experience in garment industry, including his 
view of the fashion trend and garment industry development 
in Vietnam on November 8, 2017.

The Group will also actively encourage employees to 
contribute their time and skills to community volunteer 
works to benefit local communities by giving them 
opportunities to learn more about social and environmental 
issues and enhance the corporate value of the Group.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the Group will 
consider from time to time to make donations to charities 
when the Group records after-tax profits and has sufficient 
funds.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and Management are committed to uphold a high standard of corporate 
governance with an aim to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Board is of the view that the Company has 
complied with all the code provisions set out in the Code throughout the year ended March 31, 2018, except for the 
deviation set out in “Chairman and Managing Director” below.

A. DIReCtoRs

A.1 the Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Group in a responsible and effective manner. 
Every director is charged with acting in the best interest of the Group and contributing to the Group with their 
expertise and knowledge. The Board decides on overall Group strategies and monitors the Group’s performance 
on behalf of the shareholders.

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year scheduled at approximately quarterly intervals according 
to the Code. Between scheduled meetings, monthly updates for the performance of the Group are provided to 
directors on a regular basis. Whenever warranted, additional Board meetings are held. During the year ended 
March 31, 2018, the attendance of each director at the Board meetings and the Annual General Meeting held 
on August 25, 2017 (the “2017 AGM”) is set out as follows:

name of director
Attendance at 
the 2017 AGM

Attendance at 
Board meetings

Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man 1/1 9/9
Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man 1/1 9/9
Mr. Billy Tung Chung Man 1/1 9/9
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay 1/1 9/9
Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim 1/1 8/9
Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien 1/1 8/9
Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (resigned on January 12, 2018) 1/1 4/7

To provide an opportunity to directors to include matters for discussion in the agenda, at least 14 days’ notice 
of a Board meeting is normally given to all directors. Every director is entitled to have access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules 
and regulations, are followed. All minutes are kept by the company secretary and are open for inspection by any 
director with reasonably advance notice. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees should 
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board/Board Committees and decisions reached. Draft 
and final versions of minutes of Board meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and records 
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meeting is held.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Group and may, upon request, seek 
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should such advice be considered necessary 
by any director. If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered 
material by the Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if 
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and Officers liability insurance coverage for its directors and 
officers.

A.2 Chairman and Managing Director

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and 
should not be performed by the same individual. Following the resignation of Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (“Mr. 
Benson Tung”), who was the Chairman and Managing Director (equivalent to chief executive) of the Company, 
on January 12, 2018, Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man (“Mr. Martin Tung”) has been appointed as the Chairman and 
Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man (“Mr. Raymond Tung”) has been appointed as the Managing Director with effect 
from January 12, 2018. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is functioning properly, with 
good corporate governance practices and procedures. He also steers the Board and the Company towards 
corporate goals. The Managing Director is responsible for effective implementation of the overall strategies and 
initiatives adopted by the Board.

With the support of the Managing Director and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all 
directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable information 
on a timely basis. Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) annually without the presence of executive 
directors.

A.3 Board composition

The Board currently consists of three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors:

executive directors:
Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man (Chairman)
Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man (Managing Director)
Mr. Billy Tung Chung Man
Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (Chairman and Managing Director) (resigned on January 12, 2018)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay
Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim
Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien
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More than one-third of the Board are independent non-executive directors. The Company has received, from 
each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien (“Mr. Chang”), an independent non-executive director 
of the Company, is the managing director of Chang Leung Hui & Li C.P.A. Limited (“Mr. Chang’s Firm”) which 
provides auditing, accounting and taxation services to the public. Mr. Chang’s Firm, through another engagement 
partner, has been providing auditing, accounting and taxation services to a private company controlled by Mr. 
Robert Yau Ming Kim (“Mr. Yau”), an existing independent non-executive director of the Company, and personal 
taxation service to Mr. Yau himself for over 20 years. Mr. Chang personally was not, and would not be involved 
in the provision of any services to Mr. Yau and his controlled company. Apart from the above, Mr. Chang or 
Mr. Chang’s Firm has not provided and does not provide services to any of the Company’s existing directors 
(including executive directors) and/or substantial shareholders. Nor has he been involved and is involved in 
business dealings with the Company, its respective subsidiaries, its other directors or with any core connected 
persons of the Company. In view of the above and that the level of fees received by Mr. Chang’s Firm from Mr. 
Yau and his controlled company is insignificant, the Company considers they are independent. The Company 
considers that all independent non-executive directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules and are independent.

The relationship among members of the Board is disclosed in “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

A.4 Appointment, re-election and removal

Each executive director and non-executive director (including independent non-executive directors) of the 
Company are appointed for a term of three years.

In accordance with the Code and the Company’s Articles of Association, all directors (including independent 
non-executive directors) are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. Composition of the Board 
will be reviewed regularly to ensure that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for 
the requirements of the business of the Company. The directors’ profile is set out on pages 46 to 47.

A.5 Responsibilities of directors

The directors are continually updated with the regulatory requirements, business activities and development of 
the Company to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Through regular Board meetings, all directors 
are kept abreast of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities 
transactions by the directors. Confirmation has been sought from all directors that they have complied with 
the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended March 31, 2018. The Board has 
also adopted the Model Code as guidelines for relevant employees in respect of their dealings in the securities 
of the Company.

The directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment and from time to time thereafter 
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments 
with an indication of the time involved.
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The Company has from time to time provided relevant reading materials and briefings to directors on the latest 
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements relating to the 
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. Attendance at external seminars or briefing sessions 
on the relevant topics also counts toward Continuous Professional Development (“CPD”) training.

The directors have provided to the Company their records of CPD training during the year ended March 31, 
2018 and the CPD training undertaken by the directors is summarised into the following areas:

name of director

Legal, regulatory 
and Corporate 

Governance
Directors’ roles, 

functions and duties

executive directors:
Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man ✓ ✓

Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man ✓ ✓

Mr. Billy Tung Chung Man ✓ ✓

Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (resigned on January 12, 2018) ✓ ✓

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay ✓ ✓

Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim ✓ ✓

Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien ✓ ✓

A.6 supply of and access to information

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting are sent in 

full to all directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a meeting.

The management has an obligation to supply the Board and its committees with adequate information in a 

timely manner to enable the members to make informed decisions. Each director has separate and independent 

access to the Company’s management to acquire more information than is volunteered by management and 

to make further enquiries where necessary.

B. DeLeGAtIon By tHe BoARD

B.1 Management functions

Executive directors are in charge of different business and functional divisions in accordance with their respective 
areas of expertise. The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for setting overall corporate strategies; 
overseeing their implementation, monitoring the Group’s operational and financial performance; and approval of 
matters that are of a material or substantial nature and ensure that sound internal control and risk management 
systems are in place. Supported by management members, the Managing Director is responsible for effective 
implementation of the Board’s decisions and the day-to-day operations of the Group.
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B.2 Board committees

Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee have been established to oversee 
specific aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees has specific written terms of reference 
which deal clearly with their authority and duties.

B.3 Corporate governance functions

The Board delegates its responsibility for performing the corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. 
Specific terms of reference are set out in the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee of the Company and 
the relevant duties include the followings:

– To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

– To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 
management;

– To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

– To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees and directors; and

– To review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

C. noMInAtIon CoMMIttee

A Nomination Committee was established by the Company on March 20, 2012. Mr. Martin Tung has been 
appointed as the Chairman of the Committee to replace Mr. Benson Tung with effect from January 12, 2018. 
The other members are the three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay, Mr. Robert 
Yau Ming Kim and Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien, respectively.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the 
Board, identify and nominate potential individuals for directorship, and assess the independence of independent 
non-executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of 
directors and succession planning for directors. Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. The full 
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website at www.tungtex.com and the website of Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEx”).

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy, setting out the approach to diversity on the Board. The 
Nomination Committee has, from time to time, reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

In the Board Diversity Policy:

– The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality 
of its performance. A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in the gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge, 
ethnicity, length of service and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into account 
in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit, 
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time by the Nomination Committee 
as regards to the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the Board has a balanced composition of skills, knowledge 
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Group. Any nomination of directors 
will be reviewed and discussed by the Nomination Committee. Suitable candidates will be recommended by 
the Nomination Committee to the Board for consideration.
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During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Nomination Committee held two meetings, with attendance record 
as follows:

name of member number of attendance

Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man (Chairman) (appointed on January 12, 2018) N/A
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay 2/2
Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim 2/2
Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien 2/2
Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (Chairman) (resigned on January 12, 2018) 1/2

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the year ended March 31, 2018:

– Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;
– Reviewed the retirement of directors by rotation and the re-election of retiring directors at the 2017 AGM; 

and
– Assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors.

D. ReMUneRAtIon CoMMIttee

A Remuneration Committee was established by the Company in 2005. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Robert 
Yau Ming Kim, who is an independent non-executive director, and the other members are Mr. Benson Tung 
(resigned on January 12, 2018) and Mr. Martin Tung (appointed on January 12, 2018), executive directors, Mr. 
Tony Chang Chung Kay and Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien, independent non-executive directors.

The primary function of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the 
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior management and to determine the 
remuneration packages of individual executive-directors and senior management. The director’s emoluments are 
determined, among other things, by reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his experience 
in the industry, the prevailing market conditions and the Group’s performance. The Remuneration Committee 
ensures that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The full terms of 
reference are available on the website of the Company and the website of HKEx.

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings, with attendance 
record as follows:

name of member number of attendance

Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man (appointed on January 12, 2018) 1/1
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay 3/3
Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien 3/3
Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing (resigned on January 12, 2018) 1/2

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration Committee during the year ended March 31, 2018:

– Determined, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive directors; 
– Made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors; and
– Approved annual bonus for the year ended March 31, 2018.
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Details of the remuneration of directors are disclosed on an individual basis and are set out in note 9 to the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group. As the members of the Board coincide with the members of the 

senior management of the Group and the remuneration of directors have been disclosed, no disclosure about 

the remuneration payable to members of senior management could be made.

e. AUDIt CoMMIttee

An Audit Committee was established in 1999 and all the members are independent non-executive directors, 
namely Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien, Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay and Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim. The Committee 
is chaired by Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien, who possesses recognised professional qualifications in accounting 
and extensive experience in audit and accounting. None of the Audit Committee members is a former partner 
of the existing auditing firm of the Company during the one year from the date of his ceasing to be a partner of 
the auditing firm. The Audit Committee is to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management 
and internal control systems, to review the financial information and reporting process, effectiveness of the 
internal audit function, and to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and 
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standard. The full terms of reference are 
available on the website of the Company and the website of HKEx.

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Audit Committee held four meetings with attendance record as 
follows:

name of member number of attendance

Mr. Leslie Chang Shuk Chien (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Tony Chang Chung Kay 4/4
Mr. Robert Yau Ming Kim 4/4

At the meetings, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2017 and the interim accounts for six months ended September 30, 2017 respectively with management 
and the Company’s external auditor. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the Group’s accounting principles 
and practices, listing rules and statutory compliance, financial reporting matters and the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems and the internal audit function, appointment of external auditor and 
their relevant scope of works, and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. 
The Audit Committee met the external auditor twice without the presence of the executive directors and the 
management.

F. ACCoUntABILIty AnD AUDIt

F.1 Financial reporting

The management provides sufficient explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an informed 
assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgements and estimates made are prudent 
and reasonable. The preparation of the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 is in accordance 
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant 
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board has prepared the financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

The primary objective of the Company is to maximise shareholders’ value and sustain steady business 
development in the long run. The “Management Discussion and Analysis” contain a discussion and analysis of 
the Group’s performance, an explanation of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over 
the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditor of the Company are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

F.2 Risk management and internal control

The Board has overall responsibilities for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing 
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining sound and effective risk 
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the Group’s assets.

The Board conducts review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
twice a year, covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls. Adequacy of 
resources, accounting staff qualifications and experience, their training programmes and budget of accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions are also reviewed by the Board from time to time.

The Group’s risk management system is established to identify, evaluate and manage risks including but not 
limited to financial, business and strategic, operational, legal and regulatory risks. The Group has maintained a 
systematic assessment and prioritisation of significant risks in accordance with their impact on the business and 
the likelihood of their occurrence. The relevant risk owners and the management are responsible for formulating 
risk mitigation measures and monitoring the progress of implementing these measures to manage the risks. 
Identified risks are recorded in a risk register, which is updated and reviewed by the management regularly. The 
Group’s internal control system includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its 
assets against unauthorised use of disposition, ensures the maintenance of proper accounting records for the 
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensures compliance with relevant 
laws and regulations. Confirmations are also received from directors and all relevant employees of the Group who 
have possessed inside information to preserve confidentially of inside information until it is publicly disclosed.

The Group’s internal audit department is responsible for performing regular, systematic and independent 
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance to the 
management and the Audit Committee that the systems are adequate and effective. The Group’s internal audit 
department develops the internal audit plan annually and carries out investigations and other special reviews as 
required by the management and the Audit Committee. To preserve independence, the internal audit department 
directly reports to the Audit Committee and the annual internal audit plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function and considers 
it is satisfactory.

The Board has acknowledged its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and 
reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss, and to manage the risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems 
and in the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and the internal audit department, considers that the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective for the year ended March 31, 2018.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties 
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.
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F.3 Remuneration to the external auditor of the Company

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2018 
is set out as follows:

services rendered Fee
HK$’000

Audit service 711
Non-audit services
 – taxation services 191
 – other services 503

G. CoMMUnICAtIon WItH sHAReHoLDeRs

G.1 effective communication

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders through the Company’s annual report and 

financial statements, the interim report, as well as the AGM. The sections under “Chairman’s Statement” and 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual reports facilitate the shareholders’ understanding of the 

Company’s activities. The AGM allows the directors to meet and communicate with shareholders. The Company 

gives at least 20 clear business days’ prior notice to shareholders before the AGM. The Company’s financial 

statements and each of the required disclosure of information are despatched within the prescribed period 

imposed by laws and regulations.

At the 2017 AGM, a separate resolution was proposed in respect of each substantially separate issue, including 

the re-election of individual directors. The Chairman of the Board (also being the Chairman of the Nomination 

Committee), Chairman of the Audit Committee and members of the Remuneration Committee attended the 2017 

AGM and were available to answer questions of the shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website is maintained to disseminate Company 

announcements and other relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a timely basis. The 

Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy which will be subject to periodic review to ensure 

its effectiveness.

G.2 shareholders’ rights

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at 

general meetings may, in accordance with the requirements and procedures set out in the Companies Ordinance 

(Chapter 622), request the Board to convene a general meeting. The general nature of the business to be dealt 

with at the meeting must be stated in the request which may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in 

electronic form, and must be authenticated by the person(s) making it.

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all 

shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual 

general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be moved at an annual general meeting.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to the 

Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: 12th Floor, Tungtex Building, 203 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong 
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Fax: 2343 9668
Email: info@tungtex-holdg.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, 

notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact 

details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required 

by law. Shareholders may call the Company at 2797 7000 for any assistance.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up 

to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the website of the Company and the 

website of HKEx. Shareholders may refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

G.3 voting by poll

Detailed procedures for conducting a poll were properly explained at the commencement of the 2017 AGM.

At the 2018 Annual General Meeting (the “2018 AGM”), the chairman of the meeting will demand a poll on all the 

resolutions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Poll results will be posted on the websites 

of the Company and HKEx following the 2018 AGM.

H. CoMpAny seCRetARy

Mr. Liu Hoi Keung of JWMG Professional Services Limited, an external service provider, has been engaged by 

the Company as its company secretary following the resignation of Ms. Cheng Pik Yuk of Tricor Services Limited  

as the company secretary of the Company with effect from August 14, 2017. His primary contact person at the 

Company is Ms. Cheung Yiu Shan (Group Chief Financial Officer).
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended March 31, 2018.

pRInCIpAL ACtIvItIes

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiaries is the manufacture 
and sale of garments. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

MAJoR CUstoMeRs AnD sUppLIeRs

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest customers were 13% and 35%, respectively. 
The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest suppliers were 6% and 16%, respectively.

At no time during the year did a director, close associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the 
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s total issued shares) have an interest in any of the 
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

ResULts AnD AppRopRIAtIons

The results of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
on page 58.

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year ended March 31, 2018, nor has any dividend been 
proposed by the Company since the end of the reporting period in respect of the year ended March 31, 2018.

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended March 31, 2018.

DIstRIBUtABLe ReseRves oF tHe CoMpAny

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at March 31, 2018 represented the retained profits 
of HK$41,129,000 (2017: HK$126,286,000).

FInAnCIAL sUMMARy

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on 
page 112.

FIXeD Assets

Movements in investment properties and property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in notes 14 and 
15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUsIness RevIeW AnD peRFoRMAnCe

Review of our business and performance

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and 
an analysis using financial key performance indicators are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management 
Discussion and Analysis respectively on page 5 and from pages 6 to 13 of this Annual Report. All these sections 
constitute part of this Directors’ Report.
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BUsIness RevIeW AnD peRFoRMAnCe (Continued)

principal risks and uncertainties

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the 
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in addition to the matters referred to in the 
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis.

1. Economic climate and individual market performance

The impact of economic conditions on consumer confidence and buying habits would affect sales and results 
of the Group. The economic growth or decline in our geographical markets that affected consumer spending 
on garments would also affect our business. The Group continues to implement its strategies to develop and 
strengthen penetration of different geographical markets thereby reducing its dependency on specific markets.

2. Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic 
goals. The risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews of recruitment and retention practices, 
remuneration packages and succession planning within the management team.

3. Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge 
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the recognised financial assets as 
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken 
to recover overdue debts. The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the 
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of debt at the end of the 
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

4. Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with the 
relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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BUsIness RevIeW AnD peRFoRMAnCe (Continued)

principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

5. Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign currency borrowings, which expose the Group to 
foreign currency risk.

The Group manages and monitors foreign exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 
on a timely and effective manner. The Group has entered into several foreign currency forward contracts to 
mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

6. Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank 
borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair 
value interest rate risk. The management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant 
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

7. Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through their held for trading investments. The Group’s equity price 
risk is concentrated on equity instruments quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). The management manages the exposure to price risk by maintaining a portfolio of investments 
with different risk and return profiles.

Details of the equity price risk are set out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group is committed to high environmental standard to fulfill the requirements under relevant laws and regulations 
during the business development. The Group has complied with the requirements under the Companies Ordinance, 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) for, among 
other things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance. The Group has adopted the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”). The Group also strictly follows the regulatory 
requirements on employment, human rights, labour rights, supply chain management, product responsibility and anti-
corruption in the interests of our stakeholders including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, creditors, 
bankers regulators and the general public.

Details on the Group’s environmental policies and performance can be found in the Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report from pages 14 to 30 of this Annual Report.
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BUsIness RevIeW AnD peRFoRMAnCe (Continued)

stakeholders’ engagement

The Group obtains and understands the views of our customers, employees, suppliers and other stakeholders regularly. 
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs 
and assess the best way to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future business and community 
development.

The Group has taken steps through the year to ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interest of our customers 
and suppliers, such as placing a high priority on quality to promote customers satisfaction in terms of products and 
services and conducting procurement from suppliers fairly. Further details on the key relationships with customers and 
suppliers are also disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report from pages 14 to 30 of this Annual 
Report.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is included in the Management Discussion and Analysis and 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report respectively from pages 6 to 13 and pages 14 to 30 of this Annual Report.

sHARe CApItAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the year ended March 31, 2018 are set out in note 27 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

pURCHAse, sALe oR ReDeMptIon oF tHe LIsteD seCURItIes oF tHe CoMpAny

During the year, the Company has not redeemed, and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased 
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

peRMItteD InDeMnIty pRovIsIon

During the financial year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions 
as permitted under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former Directors) of the Company. 
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal 
actions against its Directors and other officers arising out of corporate activities. 
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DIReCtoRs

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

executive directors:

Martin Tung Hau Man (Chairman)
Raymond Tung Wai Man (Managing Director)
Billy Tung Chung Man
Benson Tung Wah Wing (Chairman and Managing Director) (resigned on January 12, 2018)

Independent non-executive directors:

Tony Chang Chung Kay
Robert Yau Ming Kim
Leslie Chang Shuk Chien

Note:

Mr. Kenneth Yuen Ki Lok has been appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from July 26, 2018.

Pursuant to Article 80(A) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the 
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less 
than one-third shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every director (including those appointed for a specific 
term or holding office as Chairman or Managing Director) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 
three years or within such other period as the Stock Exchange may from time to time prescribe. Accordingly, Messrs. 
Tony Chang Chung Kay and Robert Yau Ming Kim retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election thereat.

In accordance with Article 83 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Kenneth Yuen Ki Lok retire and, being 
eligible, offer himself for re-election.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has any unexpired 
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIReCtoRs oF sUBsIDIARIes

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year ended 
March 31, 2018 or during the period from April 1, 2018 to the date of this Directors’ Report are available on the 
website of the Company. 
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pRoFILe oF DIReCtoRs AnD senIoR MAnAGeMent

executive Directors:

Martin tung Hau Man
Chairman
Chairman of Nomination Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Aged 43, joined the Group in 2000 and was promoted to assistant director in 2002. Mr. Tung was appointed as an 
executive director and Chairman of the Board of Directors in 2010 and January 2018 respectively. He also holds 
directorships in some subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics from Simon 
Fraser University and a Master of Science Degree in Engineering Business Management from The University of Warwick.

Mr. Tung is the son of Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing and Ms. Wong Fung Lin, together own the entire equity interest in 
Corona Investments Limited (“Corona”), the substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company. He is the brother 
of Mr. Billy Tung Chung Man, executive director and the cousin of Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man, the managing director. 
Mr. Martin Tung is a director of Corona. Under the service contract of Mr. Tung, his remuneration was increased from 
HK$110,000 per month to HK$175,000 per month with effect from January 12, 2018.

Raymond tung Wai Man
Managing Director
Aged 52, joined the Group in 1988 and was appointed as an executive director and managing director in 2000 and 
January 2018 respectively. Mr. Tung also holds directorships in some subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Post-
experience Certificate in Engineering Business Management from The University of Warwick. He is the nephew of Mr. 
Benson Tung, the cousin of Mr. Martin Tung and Mr. Billy Tung. Under the service contract of Mr. Raymond Tung, his 
remuneration was increased from HK$132,500 per month to HK$170,000 per month with effect from January 12, 2018.

Billy tung Chung Man
Aged 41, joined the Group in 2001 and was promoted to assistant director in 2003. Mr. Tung was appointed as an 
executive director in 2010. He is also the managing director of the Group’s retail operation and director of some 
subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Civil Engineering from The University of 
Warwick and a Master of Science Degree in Information Technology from University College London. He is the son of 
Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing and Ms. Wong Fung Lin, together own the entire equity interest in Corona, the substantial 
and controlling shareholder of the Company, the brother of Mr. Martin Tung and the cousin of Mr. Raymond Tung. 
Mr. Billy Tung is a director of Corona. Under the service contract of Mr. Tung, his remuneration was increased from 
HK$105,000 per month to HK$110,000 per month with effect from April 1, 2018.
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pRoFILe oF DIReCtoRs AnD senIoR MAnAGeMent (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

tony Chang Chung Kay 
Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
Aged 62, was appointed as a non-executive director in 1994. He was re-designated as an independent non-executive 
director of the Company in 1995. He is a director of a famous shirt making private company and has over 40 years’ 
experience in the garment industry. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree from McGill University. 

Robert yau Ming Kim
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
Aged 79, was appointed as an independent non-executive director in 2006. He has extraordinary and extensive 
experience in the textile and clothing industry. Before his retirement as managing director of a renowned international 
apparel buying office in Hong Kong in August 2004, he had held senior positions including chief executive or managing 
director of various major international and local apparel companies since 1971. From 1998 to 2004, he served as vice 
chairman of The Hong Kong Exporters’ Association, member of the Executive Committee of The Hong Kong Shippers’ 
Council and member of the Garment Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. Graduated 
at Wah Yan College, he served as trade officer in the Hong Kong Government in 1960s. In 1970, he was seconded 
by the Hong Kong Government to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (“GATT”) Secretariat (now known as 
the World Trade Organization) in Geneva, Switzerland and was awarded GATT Fellowship after his attachment. He 
is currently an independent non-executive director of Parkson Retail Group Limited and Alltronics Holdings Limited 
respectively, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Leslie Chang shuk Chien
Chairman of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
Aged 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive director in 2012. He is an associate member of Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is the managing director of Chang Leung Hui & Li C.P.A. Limited since 
1997. He is a certified public accountant practising in Hong Kong since 1982 and has over 40 years of experience in 
the field of auditing and accounting.
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DIReCtoRs’ AnD CHIeF eXeCUtIves’ InteRests AnD sHoRt posItIons In sHARes, 
UnDeRLyInG sHARes AnD DeBentURes

As at March 31, 2018, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which any such director or chief executive was taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) and have been recorded in the register maintained by the Company 
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

name of director Capacity

number of 
issued ordinary 

shares held/
interested

percentage 
of the issued 

shares
of the Company

Martin Tung Hau Man Beneficial owner 1,604,000 0.35%
Raymond Tung Wai Man Beneficial owner 360,000 0.08%
Billy Tung Chung Man Beneficial owner 1,472,400 0.32%
Tony Chang Chung Kay Beneficial owner 3,844,760 0.83%

Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2018, none of the directors nor chief executives of the Company had or 

was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company 

and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which has been recorded in the register 

maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which has been notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ARRAnGeMents to pURCHAse sHARes oR DeBentURes

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the 
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company 
or any other body corporate.

DIReCtoRs’ InteRests In tRAnsACtIons, ARRAnGeMents oR ContRACts

Other than those disclosed under the section “Related Parties Disclosures” in note 32 to the consolidated financial 
statements, which do not fall under the definition of continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of 
the Listing  Rules, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company or entities connected with the director had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIReCtoRs’ InteRests In CoMpetInG BUsIness

Each of the executive directors has confirmed that he is neither engaged, nor interested, in any business which, directly 
or indirectly, competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

sUBstAntIAL sHAReHoLDeRs

As at March 31, 2018, the following substantial shareholders, other than directors and chief executives of the Company, 
had the interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed 
to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, have been recorded in the register kept by the 
Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company

name of shareholder Capacity

number of
issued ordinary

shares held/ 
interested

percentage of the
issued shares

of the Company

Corona Investments Limited Beneficial owner (note a) 150,059,268 32.33%

Benson Tung Wah Wing Interest of controlled corporation
 (note a)

150,059,268 32.33%

Madam Wong Fung Lin Interest of controlled corporation
 (note a)

150,059,268 32.33%

Wykeham Capital Asia 
 Value Fund (“WCAVF”)

Beneficial owner (note b) 29,602,000 6.37%

Wykeham Capital Limited Investment manager (note b) 29,602,000 6.37%

Thomas Howel Gruffudd Rhys Interest of controlled corporation
 (note b)

29,602,000 6.37%

Webb David Michael Beneficial owner and Interest of 
 controlled corporation 
 (note c)

27,900,000 6.01%
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Notes:

(a) 150,059,268 shares are owned by Corona. Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing and his spouse, Madam Wong Fung Lin, together own the entire equity 
interests in equal shares in Corona. By virtue of the SFO, they are deemed to be interested in the shares held by Corona.

(b) Based on the notice of disclosure of interests of Thomas Howel Gruffudd Rhys filed on February 9, 2018, he was deemed to be interested 
in the 29,602,000 shares owned by WCAVF by virtue of his 100% shareholding interest in Wykeham Capital Limited (which is the investment 
manager of WCAVF).

(c) Based on the notice of disclosure of interests of Webb David Michael filed on February 9, 2018, he is beneficial owner of 11,289,334 shares. 
In addition, 16,610,666 shares are held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, a company 100% controlled by Webb David Michael. In total, 
he is interested in 27,900,000 shares, representing 6.01% of the issued shares of the Company.

MAnAGeMent ContRACts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

InDepenDenCe ConFIRMAtIons oF InDepenDent non-eXeCUtIve DIReCtoRs

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive 
directors are independent.

CoRpoRAte GoveRnAnCe

Throughout the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the  
CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, except for the deviation set out below:

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and 
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing was the Chairman and Managing Director 
(equivalent to chief executive) of the Company until his resignation on January 12, 2018. Following the resignation of 
Mr. Benson Tung, the Company has complied with the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance practices and details of the deviation of code provision 
A.2.1 of the CG Code are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 31 to 40 of the Annual Report.

eMoLUMent poLICy

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are determined, among other things, with reference to their duties 
and responsibilities in the Company, their experience in the industry, prevailing market conditions and the Group’s 
performance.

sUFFICIenCy oF pUBLIC FLoAt

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required 
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended March 31, 2018 and up to the latest practicable date prior to the 
issue of this annual report.



ANNUAL REPORT 2018   TUNGTEX (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED 51

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DonAtIons

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to HK$19,000.

AUDItoR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect on March 23, 2018 and D 
& PARTNERS CPA LIMITED (“D & PARTNERS”) was appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 
March 23, 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 were audited by D & PARTNERS, who will 
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of D & PARTNERS as auditor of the Company will be proposed 
at the AGM.

Save for the above, there has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Martin tung Hau Man

Chairman

Hong Kong, June 28, 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

to tHe MeMBeRs oF tUnGteX (HoLDInGs) CoMpAny LIMIteD
同得仕（集團）有限公司
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

opInIon

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tungtex (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 111, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at March 31, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BAsIs FoR opInIon

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key AUDIt MAtteRs

Key audit matters are the matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Key AUDIt MAtteRs (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of trade receivables

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a 
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance 
of trade receivables to the consolidated statement of 
financial position and the management judgement involved 
in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables.

In assessing the recoverability of trade receivables, the 
management considers the credit history including default 
or delay in settlement, subsequent settlements, aging 
analysis of the trade receivables and financial position of 
the debtors.

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables was 
HK$99,446,000 as at March 31, 2018.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of trade receivables 
include:

• Understanding how the management assesses the 
recoverability of trade receivables;

• Evaluating the management’s assessment of the 
recoverability of trade receivables with reference to the 
credit history of individual receivables including default 
or delay in payments, subsequent settlements, aging 
analysis of the trade receivables and publicly available 
financial information of debtors;

• Testing the aging analysis and information in respect 
of subsequent settlements of the trade receivables, 
on a sample basis, to source documents; and

• Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance 
estimation by management by comparing historical 
allowance made to the actual settlements and actual 
loss incurred and tracing the actual settlements, on a 
sample basis, to source documents.
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Key AUDIt MAtteRs (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of inventories

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit 
matter due the use of judgement and estimates by the 
management in estimating the allowance for inventories.

In determining the allowance for inventories, the 
management considers the aging analysis, current market 
trends, and makes an estimate of net realisable value for 
obsolete and slow-moving inventories that are no longer 
popular in the market with reference to subsequent sales 
or usage information.

As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the carrying amount of inventories were 
HK$182,246,000 as at March 31, 2018. During the year 
ended March 31, 2018, allowance for inventories of 
HK$9,984,000 (2017: HK$39,772,000) was recognised.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of inventories 
include:

• Understanding how management estimates the 
allowance for inventories;

• Assessing the reasonableness of the determination 
of net realisable value and estimation of allowance 
for inventories by the management with reference 
to the aging analysis, and information in respect of 
current market trends, subsequent sales and usage 
of inventories;

• Testing the aging analysis and information in respect 
of subsequent sales or usage of inventories; on a 
sampling basis, to source documents; and

• Evaluating the historical accuracy of the management’s 
estimation on allowance for inventories by comparing 
historical allowance made to the actual selling prices 
and actual loss incurred.
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Key AUDIt MAtteRs (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment

We identified the impairment of plant and machinery, 
furniture, fixture and equipment as a key audit matter 
because of its significance to the consolidated financial 
statements and high degree of management judgement 
involved in determining the recoverable amounts.

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s plant 
and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment was 
HK$13,950,000 as at March 31, 2018.

The calculation of the recoverable amount requires the 
management of the Group to estimate the higher of fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use of those 
assets. Management reviewed the recoverable amounts of 
the plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment at 
the end of the reporting period by estimating the respective 
fair value less costs of disposal of these assets to determine 
the impairment amount required to write down these assets 
to their recoverable amounts. The management of the 
Group is of the view that as the fair value less costs of 
disposal is higher than the carrying amount of the plant 
and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment, there is 
no impairment required to be recognised.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of plant and 
machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment include:

• Understanding how the management performs the 
impairment assessment in respect of the plant and 
machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment;

• Evaluating the management’s assessment in 
estimating recoverable amount with reference to the 
fair value less costs of disposal of the plant and 
machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment;

• Testing the accuracy of the calculation of fair value 
less costs of disposal of the plant and machinery, 
furniture, fixture and equipment;

• Checking the fair value less costs of disposal of the 
plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment 
on a sample basis, to the market available information; 
and

• Evaluating the historical accuracy of the management’s 
assessment by comparing the historical estimates 
to actual parameters in current year, including any 
changes in the market available information and the 
actual selling price of assets.
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otHeR MAtteR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2017 were audited by another auditor 
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on June 28, 2017.

otHeR InFoRMAtIon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

ResponsIBILItIes oF DIReCtoRs AnD tHose CHARGeD WItH GoveRnAnCe FoR 
tHe ConsoLIDAteD FInAnCIAL stAteMents

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDItoR’s ResponsIBILItIes FoR tHe AUDIt oF tHe ConsoLIDAteD FInAnCIAL 
stAteMents

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordnance, and for 
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDItoR’s ResponsIBILItIes FoR tHe AUDIt oF tHe ConsoLIDAteD FInAnCIAL 
stAteMents (Continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

D & pARtneRs CpA LIMIteD
Certified Public Accountants
Yeung Chun Yue, David
Practising Certificate Number: P05595

Hong Kong
June 28, 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Revenue 5 998,070 970,969
Cost of sales (780,140) (815,034)

 

Gross profit 217,930 155,935
Other income and other gain 6 5,909 7,621
Increase in fair value of held for trading investments 19,992 –
Gain on sales of held for trading investments 688 –
Increase (decrease) in fair value of investment properties 14 7,383 (192)
Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments – 51
Selling and distribution costs (129,702) (130,453)
Administrative expenses (159,523) (149,356)
Finance costs 7 (5,024) (3,301)

 

Loss before tax 8 (42,347) (119,695)
Income tax expenses 11 (4,964) (762)

 

Loss for the year (47,311) (120,457)
 

Loss for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (46,546) (119,638)
 Non-controlling interests (765) (819)

 

(47,311) (120,457)
 

Loss per share 13
 Basic and diluted (HK cents) (10.0) (28.3)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR 
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (47,311) (120,457)

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange differences arising on translating foreign operations:
  – exchange differences arising during the year 22,201 (14,228)
 Reclassification adjustments from foreign currencies translation reserves:
  – release upon liquidation of a subsidiary 3,206 –

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
 Gain on revaluation of a property transferred from property, plant and 
  equipment to investment property, net of deferred tax 24,690 –

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year 50,097 (14,228)

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year 2,786 (134,685)

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 3,151 (133,866)
 Non-controlling interests (365) (819)

2,786 (134,685)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At March 31, 2018

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

non-current assets
Investment properties 14 50,405 7,068
Property, plant and equipment 15 99,014 114,141
Prepaid lease payments 16 23,879 23,630
Intangible asset 17 – –
Deferred tax assets 19 50 86

173,348 144,925

Current assets
Inventories 20 182,246 140,015
Trade and other receivables 21 169,365 151,069
Prepaid lease payments 16 801 796
Held for trading investments 22 39,540 –
Tax recoverable 566 554
Pledged bank deposits 23 116,912 96,000
Bank balances and cash 23 109,454 224,212

618,884 612,646

 Asset classified as held for sale 24 7,965 –

626,849 612,646

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 179,135 161,952
Tax liabilities 326 626
Bank borrowings 26 135,532 113,610

314,993 276,188

net current assets 311,856 336,458

total assets less current liabilities 485,204 481,383
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At March 31, 2018

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 26 10,400 12,800
Deferred tax liabilities 19 6,819 1,575

17,219 14,375

467,985 467,008

Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 254,112 254,112
Reserves 222,150 218,999

equity attributable to owners of the Company 476,262 473,111
non-controlling interests (8,277) (6,103)

467,985 467,008

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 111 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on June 28, 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Martin tung Hau Man Raymond tung Wai Man
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Attributable to owners of the Company

share 
capital

property 
Revaluation 

reserve
statutory 

reserve
translation 

reserve
Retained 

profits total

non- 
Controlling 

interests total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note i) (Note ii)

At April 1, 2016 212,932 – – (14,733) 367,598 565,797 (5,284) 560,513

Loss for the year – – – – (119,638) (119,638) (819) (120,457)
Exchange differences arising on 
 translation of foreign operations – – – (14,228) – (14,228) – (14,228)

Total comprehensive expense 
 for the year – – – (14,228) (119,638) (133,866) (819) (134,685)
Issue of new ordinary shares 
 by way of placing 42,000 – – – – 42,000 – 42,000
Transaction costs attributable 
 to issue of new ordinary shares (820) – – – – (820) – (820)

At March 31, 2017 254,112 – – (28,961) 247,960 473,111 (6,103) 467,008

Loss for the year – – – – (46,546) (46,546) (765) (47,311)
Exchange differences arising on 
 translation of foreign operations – – – 22,201 – 22,201 – 22,201
Reclassification adjustments from 
 foreign currencies translation 
 reserves:
 – Release upon liquidation of a
  subsidiary – – – 2,806 – 2,806 400 3,206
Gain on revaluation of a property 
 transferred from property, plant and 
 equipment to investment property, 
 net of deferred tax – 24,690 – – – 24,690 – 24,690
Transfer to statutory reserve – – 3,208 – (3,208) – – –

        

Total comprehensive income 
 (expense) for the year – 24,690 3,208 25,007 (49,754) 3,151 (365) 2,786
Release upon liquidation of 
 a subsidiary – – – – – – (1,809) (1,809)

        

At March 31, 2018 254,112 24,690 3,208 (3,954) 198,206 476,262 (8,277) 467,985
         

Note i: The property revaluation reserve represents the differences between net book value and fair value, net of deferred tax, of the properties upon 
transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Note ii: The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after taxation of the subsidiaries established in the Mainland of People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the PRC statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital 
of the respective subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be applied either in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

opeRAtInG ACtIvItIes
Loss before tax (42,347) (119,695)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19,181 19,543
(Increase) decrease in fair value of investment properties (7,383) 192
Finance costs 5,024 3,301
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 801 796
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary 3,032 –
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 100 (2,769)
Increase in fair value of held for trading investments (19,992) –
Gain on sales of held for trading investments (688) –
Allowance for inventories 9,984 39,772
Interest income (1,230) (1,088)
Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments – (51)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (33,518) (59,999)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (39,415) 5,293
Increase in held for trading investments (18,860) –
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (9,913) 10,002
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 5,083 (12,219)

Cash used in operations (96,623) (56,923)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (500) –
Taxation in other jurisdictions paid (1,679) (856)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded – 629

net CAsH UseD In opeRAtInG ACtIvItIes (98,802) (57,150)

InvestInG ACtIvItIes
Placement of pledged bank deposits (20,912) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (9,892) (10,457)
Interest received 1,230 1,088
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 166 34,275

net CAsH (UseD In) FRoM InvestInG ACtIvItIes (29,408) 24,906
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

FInAnCInG ACtIvItIes
Bank borrowings raised 222,049 203,476
Repayment of bank borrowings (208,212) (168,128)
Interest paid (5,024) (3,301)
Proceeds from placing of new ordinary shares – 42,000
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new ordinary shares paid – (820)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases – (7)

net CAsH FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIvItIes 8,813 73,220

net (DeCReAse) InCReAse In CAsH AnD CAsH eQUIvALents (119,397) 40,976

CAsH AnD CAsH eQUIvALents At BeGInnInG oF tHe yeAR 224,212 186,325

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 4,639 (3,089)

CAsH AnD CAsH eQUIvALents At enD oF tHe yeAR,
 represented by bank balances and cash 109,454 224,212



ANNUAL REPORT 2018   TUNGTEX (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED 65

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended March 31, 2018

1. GeneRAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and the principal 
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars (“USD”). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) for the convenience of the shareholders as the Company is listed 
in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 18.

2. AppLICAtIon oF neW AnD AMenDMents to HonG KonG FInAnCIAL 
RepoRtInG stAnDARDs (“HKFRss”)

Amendments to HKFRss that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 – 2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on 
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAs 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments require an 
entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments also require 
disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows 
will be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) 
changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes 
in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided in note 36. Consistent 
with the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative information for the 
prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 36, the application of these amendments has had no 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2. AppLICAtIon oF neW AnD AMenDMents to HonG KonG FInAnCIAL 
RepoRtInG stAnDARDs (“HKFRss”) (Continued)

new and amendments to HKFRss and the new interpretations issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs and the new interpretations 
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts4

HK (IFRIC) – Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK (IFRIC) – Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance 
 Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
 HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
 Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement2

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 – 2016 Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 – 2017 Cycle2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021

HKFRs 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when 
it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, 
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2. AppLICAtIon oF neW AnD AMenDMents to HonG KonG FInAnCIAL 
RepoRtInG stAnDARDs (“HKFRss”) (Continued)

HKFRs 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, 
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more 
disclosure, however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have 
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRs 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled 
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is 
replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases 
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of 
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Company currently presents upfront 
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while other operating 
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease 
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash flows.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

A preliminary assessment indicates that the non-cancellable operating lease commitments will meet the definition 
of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Company will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application 
of HKFRS 16.

As at March 31, 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$8,406,000 as 
disclosed in note 28. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a 
lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability 
in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2. AppLICAtIon oF neW AnD AMenDMents to HonG KonG FInAnCIAL 
RepoRtInG stAnDARDs (“HKFRss”) (Continued)

HKFRs 16 Leases (Continued)

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of HK$2,739,000 as rights and 
obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying 
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are considered as additional 
lease payments. Adjustments of refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount of 
right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation and 
disclosure as indicated above.

Amendments to HKAs 40 Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment property necessitates an assessment of whether a 
property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property, supported by observable evidence 
that a change in use has occurred. The amendments further clarify that situations other than the ones listed in 
HKAS 40 may evidence a change in use, and that a change in use is possible for properties under construction. 
For example, change in use for transfer from properties under development for sale in the ordinary course of 
business to investment properties could be evidenced by inception of an operating lease to another party. 
Currently, the Group accounts for such transfer only upon commencement of an operating lease.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these amendments will result in early recognition 
of such transfers on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future periods should there be a change 
in use of any of its properties.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs and the 
new interpretations will have no material effect on amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements 
and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules’) and by the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in accounting policies set 
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are 
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not 
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within 
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. Non-controlling interest in the results of the 
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling 
interests and the owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that the 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting 
policy for leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the 
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor 
is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as 
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which a lease includes both leasehold land and building 
elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately 
based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
each element have been transferred to the Group unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, 
in which case the entire property is accounted for as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration 
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements 
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the 
lease at the initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is 
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments 
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the entire property is generally 
classified as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (“foreign currencies”) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on monetary 
items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to 
occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in 
other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the 
Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an 
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), 
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of 
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit 
scheme, which are defined contribution schemes, are charged as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.
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3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ 
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment 
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption 
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in 
accordance with the above general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to 
how the properties will be recovered).
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3. sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG poLICIes (Continued)

taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods, 
or for administrative purposes (other than properties under construction as described below) are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, other than 
freehold land and properties under construction, less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using 
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Freehold land is not depreciated.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rental and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment property is measured at its fair value. All of the Group’s property interests held 
under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as investment 
properties and are measured using fair value model. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset with a finite useful life that is acquired separately is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible asset with a finite useful life is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for 
on a prospective basis.
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Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which 
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if 
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise 
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or 
a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using 
the first-in, first-out method.

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are included in the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less any 
identified impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Company’s financial asset are classified into the following categories: loans and receivables and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are financial assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as hedging instrument.

Financial assets held for trading are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement 
recognised directly in profits or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits 
and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term receivables where 
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables (Continued)

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Loans and 
receivables are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have 
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the respective credit 
period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception 
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 
in which case the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met 
only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to 
terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when criteria described above are met, regardless of whether 
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, 
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is 
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of 
the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale from the time when the investment 
(or a portion of investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous 
carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell.

4. CRItICAL ACCoUntInG JUDGeMents AnD Key soURCes oF estIMAtIon 
UnCeRtAInty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors 
of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolio and 
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to 
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than 
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of the 
Company have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured 
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. In respect of those investment 
properties located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Group recognised additional deferred taxes 
relating to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) on changes in fair value of such investment properties as appropriate.
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4. CRItICAL ACCoUntInG JUDGeMents AnD Key soURCes oF estIMAtIon 
UnCeRtAInty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables. 
Allowance is applied to trade receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances 
may not be collectible. The identification of doubtful receivables requires the management’s judgement and 
estimation of future cash flows. The management may consider the credit history including default or delay in 
settlement, subsequent settlements, aging analysis of the trade receivables and financial position of debtors. 
Where the actual outcome or expectation of the recoverability of trade receivables is different from the original 
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of trade receivables and allowance for doubtful debts in 
the period in which such estimate has changed. As at March 31, 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables 
was HK$99,446,000 (2017: HK$103,018,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. 
Allowance is applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable 
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement 
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories. The management may consider the aging 
analysis, the current market trends, and makes an estimate of net realisable value for obsolete and slow-moving 
inventories that are no longer popular in the market with reference to subsequent sales or usage information. 
Where the actual outcome or expectation of the net realisable value of inventories is different from the original 
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance for inventories in the period in 
which such estimate has changed. The carrying amount of inventories at March 31, 2018 was HK$182,246,000, 
net of allowance of HK$9,984,000 (2017: HK$140,015,000 (net of allowance of HK$39,772,000)).

Impairment of plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment

The recoverable amount calculation requires the management of the Group to estimate higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use of those assets as the recoverable amount. The management of the Group 
reviews the recoverable amounts of the Group’s plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment by looking 
into the fair values less cost of disposals, based on the future development plans. Where the actual future 
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The fair value less cost of disposals 
of these assets have been determined from market available information. The management of the Group is 
of the view that as the fair value less costs of disposal is higher than the carrying amount of the plant and 
machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment, there is no impairment of plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and 
equipment. As at March 31, 2018, the carrying amount of plant and machinery, furniture, fixture and equipment 
was HK$13,950,000 (2017: HK$17,486,000).
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5. RevenUe AnD seGMentAL InFoRMAtIon

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers for 
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the geographical areas of sales 
made by the Group’s operating divisions based on the location of customers. The Group is principally engaged 
in the manufacture and sale of women garments. The Group is currently organised into operating divisions which 
constitute three operating segments – North America, Asia, and Europe and others.

No segment assets and liabilities are disclosed as they are not reported to the chief operating decision makers.

segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended March 31, 2018:

north 
America Asia

europe 
and others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

REVENUE
Sales of goods – external 520,773 447,712 29,585 998,070

SEGMENT (LOSS) PROFIT (31,730) 5,193 (1,518) (28,055)

Increase in fair value of held for trading investments 19,992
Gain on sales of held for trading investments 688
Increase in fair value of investment properties 7,383
Finance costs (5,024)
Unallocated income 5,909
Unallocated expenses (43,240)

Loss before tax (42,347)
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5. RevenUe AnD seGMentAL InFoRMAtIon (Continued)

segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended March 31, 2017:

North
America Asia

Europe 
and others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE
Sales of goods – external 520,363 400,672 49,934 970,969

SEGMENT LOSS (21,590) (59,176) (439) (81,205)

Decrease in fair value of investment property (192)
Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments 51
Finance costs (3,301)
Unallocated income 7,621
Unallocated expenses (42,669)

Loss before tax (119,695)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 
in note 3. Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss expensed) profit earned by each segment without allocation 
of central administration costs, directors’ salaries, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of 
prepaid lease payments, change in fair value of held for trading investments, change in fair value of investment 
property, gain on sales of held for trading investments, change in fair value of derivative financial instruments, 
other income and other gain and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the Company’s executive 
directors for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance.
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5. RevenUe AnD seGMentAL InFoRMAtIon (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers located in Hong Kong (country of domicile), the United 
States of America (the “USA”), the PRC, European countries and Canada. The Group’s revenue from external 
customers by the geographical location of the customers are detailed below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

The USA 360,229 411,483
The PRC 425,690 363,745
Canada 160,544 108,880
Hong Kong 17,001 25,627
European countries 23,292 45,173
Others 11,314 16,061

 

998,070 970,969
 

The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly in Hong Kong and the PRC. Information about 
the Group’s non-current assets by the geographical location of the assets is detailed below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Hong Kong 2,485 2,996
The PRC 143,153 113,062
Others 27,660 28,781

173,298 144,839

Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

For the year ended March 31, 2018, there is one external customer in North America operating segment (2017: 
Nil) who contributed over 10% of the total sales of the Group. Its contribution was approximately HK$126 million 
(2017: HK$95 million).
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6. otHeR InCoMe AnD otHeR GAIn

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Bank interest income 1,230 1,088
Rental income from investment properties under operating leases,
 net of outgoings of HK$564,000 (2017: HK$318,000) 4,679 3,764
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 2,769

5,909 7,621

7. FInAnCe Costs

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Bank borrowings 5,024 3,301

8. Loss BeFoRe tAX

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Directors’ remunerations:
Fees 510 616
Other emoluments 8,969 9,615
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 82 67

9,561 10,298

Other employee benefits expenses:
Salaries, allowances and bonus 261,981 297,255
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 32,297 28,104

Total employee benefits expenses 303,839 335,657

Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit service 711 1,430
– Non-audit services 694 540

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (including allowance 
 for inventories of HK$9,984,000 (2017: HK$39,772,000)) 780,140 815,034
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 801 796
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19,181 19,543
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 100 (2,769)
Net exchange (gain) loss (32) 299
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary 3,032 –
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9. DIReCtoRs’ AnD CHIeF eXeCUtIve’s eMoLUMents

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules 
and Companies Ordinance is as follows:

2018

executive directors Independent non-executive directors

Martin Raymond Billy Benson tony Robert Leslie

tung tung tung tung Chang yau Chang

Hau Man Wai Man Chung Man Wah Wing Chung Kay Ming Kim shuk Chien total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note c) (note c)

Fees – – – – 170 170 170 510

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits 1,576 1,823 1,365 3,080 – – – 7,844

Contributions to retirement

 benefit schemes 45 19 18 – – – – 82

Performance related incentive 

 payments (note) 55 240 50 780 – – – 1,125

Total emoluments 1,676 2,082 1,433 3,860 170 170 170 9,561

2017

Executive directors

Non-executive 

directors Independent non-executive directors

Martin Raymond Billy Benson Alan Kevin Tony Robert Leslie Johnny Edwin

Tung Tung Tung Tung Lam Tung Lee Chang Yau Chang Chang Siu

Hau Man Wai Man Chung Man Wah Wing Yiu On Siu Wing Kwok Bun Chung Kay Ming Kim Shuk Chien Tak Cheung Pui Lap Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees – – – – – 20 20 170 170 170 20 46 616

Other emoluments:

 Salaries and other benefits 1,414 1,690 1,365 3,599 1,145 – – – – – – – 9,213

Contributions to retirement

 benefit schemes 25 18 18 – 6 – – – – – – – 67

Performance related incentive 

 payments (note) 55 183 53 – 111 – – – – – – – 402

Total emoluments 1,494 1,891 1,436 3,599 1,262 20 20 170 170 170 20 46 10,298

Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined by reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and 
prevailing market conditions.
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9. DIReCtoRs’ AnD CHIeF eXeCUtIve’s eMoLUMents (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of 
the Company and the Group.

(b) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

(c) Following the resignation of Mr. Benson Tung Wah Wing as the Chairman of the Board, an executive director and the managing director 
of the Company, with effect from January 12, 2018, Mr. Martin Tung Hau Man has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and 
Mr. Raymond Tung Wai Man has been appointed as the managing director of the Company.

No directors waived any emoluments in both years.

10. FIve HIGHest pAID eMpLoyees’ eMoLUMents

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2017: four) were directors of the Company 
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2017: 
one) individual were as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Salaries and other benefits 1,251 1,433
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 18 18

1,269 1,451

The emoluments were within the following band:

number of employee

2018 2017

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief executive or the 
five highest paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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11. InCoMe tAX eXpenses

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Current tax:
Hong Kong 159 488
The PRC 878 87

1,037 575
PRC withholding tax on dividend distribution 828 –

1,865 575
Deferred taxation (note 19) 3,099 187

4,964 762

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT 
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries remains 25%. Further, 5% withholding income tax is generally imposed 
on dividends relating to profits earned by PRC entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Loss before tax (42,347) (119,695)

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (6,987) (19,750)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 6,876 3,363
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (4,989) (3,097)
Dividend withholding tax expense 828 –
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 10,211 21,488
PRC LAT 1,466 –
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (4,426) (1,314)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in 
 other jurisdictions 1,985 72

Income tax expenses 4,964 762

Details of deferred taxation for the year are set out in note 19.
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12. DIvIDenD

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year ended March 31, 2018, nor has any dividend been 
proposed by the Company since the end of the reporting period in respect of the year ended March 31, 2018.

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended March 31, 
2018 (2017: Nil).

13. Loss peR sHARe

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (46,546) (119,638)

2018 2017

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 
 the year for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share 464,077,557 422,883,036

No diluted loss per share is presented as there was no potential dilutive ordinary share outstanding for the year 
ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

14. InvestMent pRopeRtIes

HK$’000

FAIR VALUE
At April 1, 2016 7,260
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (192)

At March 31, 2017 7,068

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 14,570
Reclassified as held for sale (7,965)
Increase in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 26,623
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 7,383
Exchange adjustments 2,726

 

At March 31, 2018 50,405
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14. InvestMent pRopeRtIes (Continued)

The carrying value of the Group’s investment property shown above comprises:

Fair value
hierarchy 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000

Property in the PRC Level 3 50,405 7,068

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals are measured using the fair 
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

As at March 31, 2018, the Group held a property situated at 16 Zhenxing East Road, Yuhang Economic and 
Technological Development Zone, Hangzhou, the PRC. The existing usage of such property is factories and 
offices and the property is held on land under medium term lease.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 have been arrived at 
on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by AP Appraisal Limited (formerly known as Hung Association 
Appraisal and Professional Services Limited) and Hung Association Appraisal and Professional Services Limited, 
respectively, independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the direct comparison method, where prices per square meter of the 
properties are assessed by reference to market evidence transaction prices for similar use of properties in similar 
location and conditions in PRC. There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior years 
and it is classified as Level 3 hierarchy. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use 
of the properties is their current use.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment properties was the price per square meter.

For the investment property transferred in 2018, the price per square meter ranged from HK$2,669 to HK$2,956.

For the investment property in 2017, the price per square meter ranged from HK$26,660 to HK$30,706, which 
was then reclassified as held for sale on March 27, 2018 (see note 24 for details).

A slight increase in price per meter used would result in a significant increase in fair value measurement of the 
respective investment properties, and vice versa.

There were no transfer into or out of level 3 during the year.
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15. pRopeRty, pLAnt AnD eQUIpMent

Freehold 
land Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

plant and 
machinery, 

furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Construction 

in progress total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At April 1, 2016 3,956 183,776 66,677 183,327 4,872 – 442,608
Exchange adjustments 98 (5,600) (3,200) (5,334) (173) – (14,209)
Additions – – 6,344 3,409 100 604 10,457
Disposals – (35,218) (8,801) (10,036) (784) – (54,839)
Transfer – – 604 – – (604) –

At March 31, 2017 4,054 142,958 61,624 171,366 4,015 – 384,017

Exchange adjustments 454 7,123 5,201 8,544 210 – 21,532
Additions – – 8,748 1,144 – – 9,892
Reclassification – 2,902 – (2,902) – – –
Disposals – – (6,205) (3,601) (521) – (10,327)
Liquidation of a subsidiary – – – (10,554) – – (10,554)
Transfer to investment properties – (26,084) – – – – (26,084)

       

At March 31, 2018 4,508 126,899 69,368 163,997 3,704 – 368,476

DepReCIAtIon
At April 1, 2016 – 64,008 51,506 162,619 2,824 – 280,957
Exchange adjustments – (762) (2,369) (4,034) (126) – (7,291)
Provided for the year – 6,126 8,457 4,447 513 – 19,543
Eliminated on disposals – (4,677) (8,801) (9,152) (703) – (23,333)

At March 31, 2017 – 64,695 48,793 153,880 2,508 – 269,876

Exchange adjustments – 1,961 3,978 5,418 159 – 11,516
Provided for the year – 4,606 9,568 4,519 488 – 19,181
Reclassification – 847 – (847) – – –
Eliminated on disposals – – (6,172) (3,387) (502) – (10,061)
Eliminated on liquidation of a subsidiary – – – (9,536) – – (9,536)
Transfer to investment properties – (11,514) – – – – (11,514)

       

At March 31, 2018 – 60,595 56,167 150,047 2,653 – 269,462
       

CARRyInG vALUes
At March 31, 2018 4,508 66,304 13,201 13,950 1,051 – 99,014

       

At March 31, 2017 4,054 78,263 12,831 17,486 1,507 – 114,141

As at March 31, 2018, the Group has pledged leasehold land and buildings having a carrying value of 
HK$6,229,000 (2017: HK$8,221,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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15. pRopeRty, pLAnt AnD eQUIpMent (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis (other than 
construction in progress), after taking into account of their estimated residual values, at the following rates per 
annum:

Freehold land Nil
Buildings 4% or over the terms of the lease
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the terms of the lease, 

 or five years
Plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment 12.5% – 20%
Motor vehicles 12.5% – 20%

16. pRepAID LeAse pAyMents

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current assets 23,879 23,630
Current assets 801 796

24,680 24,426

17. IntAnGIBLe Asset

trademark
HK$’000

COST
At April 1, 2016, March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018 774

AMORTISATION
At April 1, 2016, March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018 774

CARRYING VALUES

At March 31, 2018 –
  

At March 31, 2017 –

The trademark had a finite useful life and was amortised on a straight-line basis over ten years.
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18. pARtICULARs oF pRInCIpAL sUBsIDIARIes oF tHe CoMpAny

General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at March 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

name of subsidiary

place of 
incorporation/ 
registration 
and operation

paid up issued 
share capital/ 

common stock/ 
registered capital

Class of 
shares held

proportion of 
ownership interest 

held by the Company principal activities
(HK$ unless 

otherwise indicated)
Directly Indirectly

2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %

  

Do Do Fashion Limited Hong Kong 30,000,000 Ordinary 100 100 – – Garment trading
Modern Wealth 
 Development Limited

Hong Kong 1 Ordinary 100 – – – Investment holding

Sing Yang (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong 100,000 Ordinary 100 100 – – Investment holding
Tungtex International Limited Hong Kong 100,000 Ordinary – – 100 100 Garment trading
Tungtex Trading Company Limited Hong Kong 6,000,000 Ordinary 100 100 – – Garment trading
中山同得仕絲綢服裝有限公司 PRC (Note) 38,800,000 Registered

 capital
– – 100 90 Garment manufacture

深圳百多爾時裝有限公司 PRC (Note) RMB142,000,000
(2017: RMB132,000,000)

Registered
 capital

– – 100 100 Garment manufacture/
 retail

東莞同得仕時裝有限公司 PRC (Note) RMB65,000,000 Registered
 capital

– – 100 100 Garment manufacture

Tungtex Fashions (Vietnam) Limited Vietnam US$3,200,000 Registered
 capital

– – 100 100 Garment manufacture

Note: These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected 
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, 
results in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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19. DeFeRReD tAXAtIon

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets recognised and movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation

Fair value 
change in 
relation to 
properties total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note)

At April 1, 2016 (1,302) – (1,302)
Charge to profit or loss (187) – (187)

At March 31, 2017 (1,489) – (1,489)

Charge to profit or loss (10) (3,089) (3,099)
Charge to other comprehensive income – (1,933) (1,933)
Exchange adjustments – (248) (248)

   

At March 31, 2018 (1,499) (5,270) (6,769)
   

Note: Amounts included deferred tax on fair value change in investment properties and property, plant and equipment upon its transfer to 
investment properties.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets 
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting 
purposes:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Deferred tax assets 50 86
Deferred tax liabilities (6,819) (1,575)

(6,769) (1,489)

At March 31, 2018, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$508 million (2017: HK$485 million) 
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the HK$508 
million (2017: HK$485 million) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax 
losses are losses of approximately HK$259 million (2017: HK$261 million) that can be carried forward for one 
to five years and losses of approximately HK$125 million (2017: HK$124 million) that can be carried forward up 
to twenty years. Unrecognised tax losses of HK$18 million (2017: HK$11 million) expired during the year. Other 
unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on appreciation of land value, being the proceeds 
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures.
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20. InventoRIes

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Raw materials 55,581 37,045
Work in progress 40,045 34,816
Finished goods 86,620 68,154

182,246 140,015

21. tRADe AnD otHeR ReCeIvABLes

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Trade receivables 99,446 103,018
Bills receivables 26,605 18,320
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 43,314 29,731

169,365 151,069

The Group normally grants a credit period ranging from 30 days to 90 days to its trade customers. Included 
in trade and other receivables are trade and bills receivables, mainly denominated in USD, with the following 
aged analysis presented based on the invoice date which approximated revenue recognition date at the end 
of the reporting period:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Up to 30 days 72,976 78,085
31 – 60 days 39,137 25,745
61 – 90 days 5,566 13,523
More than 90 days 8,372 3,985

126,051 121,338

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality and define its 
credit limits. Credit sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. Credit limits attributed to 
customers and credit terms granted to customers are reviewed regularly. Trade receivables of HK$97,259,000 
(2017: HK$83,555,000) that are neither past due nor impaired have good credit quality with reference to the 
track records of these customers under internal assessment by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of 
HK$28,792,000 (2017: HK$37,783,000) which are past due as at the reporting date for which the Group has 
not provided for impairment loss, as the Group considers such balance can be recovered based on historical 
experience. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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21. tRADe AnD otHeR ReCeIvABLes (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables which are past due but not impaired, at the end 
of the reporting period:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Up to 30 days 15,011 28,891
31 – 60 days 11,081 4,862
61 – 90 days 1,550 1,445
More than 90 days 1,150 2,585

28,792 37,783

The trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
relevant group entities are set out below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

HK$ 25 351
EURO (“EUR”) 1,382 857

1,407 1,208

22. HeLD FoR tRADInG InvestMents

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 39,540 –
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23. pLeDGeD BAnK DeposIts AnD BAnK BALAnCes AnD CAsH

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the bank deposits carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.0001% 
to 1.55% (2017: 0.0001% to 2.00%) per annum.

Pledged bank deposits are pledged to secure the bank borrowings and general banking facilities, which carry 
interest at market rates ranging from 0.0001% to 1.45% (2017: 0.0001% to 1.04%) per annum.

The pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

HK$ 47,916 84,747
RMB 2,606 11,455
EUR 3,649 521

54,171 96,723

24. Asset CLAssIFIeD As HeLD FoR sALe

The class of asset classified as held for sale is as follows:

Fair value 
hierarchy 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Investment property (Note) Level 3 7,965 –

Note: On March 27, 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company has entered into an agreement with an independent third party in 
relation to disposal of investment property located at Hangzhou at consideration of RMB6,400,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,965,000) (the “Disposal”). As at the date of these consolidated financial statement, the Disposal is not yet completed and in the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, that it is highly probable to sell the investment property within one year and reclassify the 
investment property to asset classified as held for sale for the presentation of the consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 
2018.
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25. tRADe AnD otHeR pAyABLes

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Trade and bills payables 80,985 74,787
Other payables, accrued charges and receipt in advance 98,150 87,165

179,135 161,952

The aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of 
the reporting period are as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Up to 30 days 57,557 45,744
31 – 60 days 12,065 17,890
61 – 90 days 7,377 3,254
More than 90 days 3,986 7,899

80,985 74,787

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk 
management policies in place to ensure that most of the payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

The trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
relevant group entities are set out below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

HK$ 20,706 14,260
RMB 2,258 800
EUR 1,020 28

23,984 15,088
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26. BAnK BoRRoWInGs

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Floating-rate borrowings:
Bank loans 50,997 38,830
Trust receipts loans 39,172 31,960
Import trade loans 55,763 55,620

145,932 126,410

Secured 132,641 105,478
Unsecured 13,291 20,932

145,932 126,410

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable:

Within one year 135,532 113,610
In more than one year but not exceeding two years 2,400 2,400
In more than two years but not exceeding five years 8,000 10,400

145,932 126,410

Less:
Amounts secured, due within one year, shown under current 
 liabilities without repayment on demand clause (2,400) (2,400)
Amounts secured, due within one year, shown under current 
 liabilities with repayment on demand clause (119,841) (90,278)
Amounts unsecured, due within one year, shown under current 
 liabilities with repayment on demand clause (13,291) (20,932)

Amounts secured and without repayment on demand clause
 shown under non-current liabilities 10,400 12,800

The effective interest rates (which is also equal to contracted interest rate) on the Group’s borrowings ranged 
from 1.50% to 6.18% (2017: 2.09% to 5.66%) per annum.
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26. BAnK BoRRoWInGs (Continued)

The bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant 
group entities are set out below:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

HK$ 47,856 33,886
EUR 3,940 1,516

51,796 35,402

27. sHARe CApItAL

number of
shares Amount

HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
At April 1, 2016
 Ordinary shares with no par value 422,077,557 212,932
Issue of new ordinary shares by way of placing (Note) 42,000,000 42,000
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new ordinary shares – (820)

At March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018
 Ordinary shares with no par value 464,077,557 254,112

Note: On March 24, 2017, the Company issued and allocated 42,000,000 ordinary shares by way of placing, at the placing price of HK$1.00 
per placing share, raising gross and net proceeds of HK$42.0 million and approximately HK$41.2 million respectively.
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28. opeRAtInG LeAses

the Group as lessee

During the year, the Group made minimum lease payments under operating leases of HK$13,608,000 (2017: 
HK$18,447,000) in respect of rented premises.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises, which fall due as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Within one year 6,188 8,565
In second to fifth year inclusive 2,218 2,840

8,406 11,405

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises, factories 
and retail shops. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years and rentals are fixed.

the Group as lessor

Property rental income (before outgoings) earned during the year was HK$5,243,000 (2017: HK$4,082,000). 
The properties held have committed tenants for terms ranging from two to three years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum 
lease payments:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Within one year 4,184 3,173
In second to fifth year inclusive 1,028 2,250

5,212 5,423

29. CApItAL CoMMItMents

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the
 consolidated financial statements in respect of:
 – acquisition of property, plant and equipment 369 –
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30. pLeDGe oF Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets of the Group have been pledged to banks to secure 
general banking facilities granted to the Group:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Prepaid lease payments 9,375 9,759
Buildings 6,229 8,221
Pledged bank deposits 116,912 96,000

31. RetIReMent BeneFIt sCHeMes

The Group operates the MPF Schemes for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes the 
lower of 5% of the relevant payroll costs or HK$1,500, for each of the employees every month, to the MPF 
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit 
scheme operated by the government in the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefit. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute amounts based on employees’ salaries 
to the retirement benefit scheme as stipulated by relevant local authorities. The employees are entitled to the 
Group’s contributions subject to the regulations of the relevant local authorities.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$32,379,000 (2017: HK$28,171,000) represents contributions paid 
and payable to these schemes by the Group for the year ended March 31, 2018.

32. ReLAteD pARty DIsCLosURes

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management (including executive directors) during the year was as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Short-term benefits 8,969 9,615
Post-employment benefits (note) 82 67

9,051 9,682

Note: The amount represents contributions to retirement benefit schemes and has been included in the amount disclosed in notes 9 and 
31.

The emoluments are determined, among other things, by reference to their duties and responsibilities, their 
experience for the industry, prevailing market conditions and the Group’s performance.
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33. LItIGAtIon

In December 2010, the administratrix of the estate of Peter Mui (who was a 49% shareholder of Yellow River, 
Inc. (“Yellow River”), a 51% subsidiary of the Company) (the “Administratrix”) filed a Verified Petition (the 
“Petition”) against Tungtex (U.S.A.) Inc. (“Tungtex US”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the 51% 
shareholder of Yellow River, and Yellow River in the Surrogate’s Court of the State of New York, County of New 
York (the “Court”) alleging Tungtex US was engaged in oppressive conduct as a majority shareholder of Yellow 
River and (a) seeking the dissolution of Yellow River and the appointment of receiver to oversee the dissolution; 
(b) requiring Tungtex US to turnover to the estate of Peter Mui 49% of the value of Yellow River; (c) requiring 
Tungtex US to account for sums received from Yellow River since April 1, 2009; (d) requiring Tungtex US to 
turnover to Yellow River funds improperly looted and diverted by it; and (e) seeking the grant of such other and 
further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. By the verified answers and counterclaims filed, Tungtex 
US and Yellow River both denied the allegations made by, and asserted counterclaims for damages against, 
the Administratrix. The Administratrix moved for summary judgement granting its claim for a judicial dissolution 
and dismissing the counterclaims. Tungtex US and Yellow River opposed the motion and cross-moved for 
summary judgement dismissing the Petition. By Decision and Order dated November 8, 2017, the Court 
denied the Administratrix’s motion for summary judgement and cross-motions of Tungtex US and Yellow River 
for summary judgement, denied the Administratrix ‘s motion to dismiss counterclaims of Yellow River except 
for the counterclaim for an accounting, and granted the Administratrix ‘s motion to dismiss counterclaims of 
Tungtex US, holding that Tungtex US does not have an independent basis to assert the counterclaims, which 
allege damage to Yellow River and also were asserted by Yellow River. The Administratrix did not appeal from 
the decision, and its time to do so has expired.

Based on and after consideration of the legal advices obtained and the possible business and financial impacts, 
the directors are of the view that Tungtex US and Yellow River have meritorious defenses against the claims 
asserted in the Petition as well as viable counterclaims and the legal proceeding is not of material importance 
to the Group.

34. CApItAL RIsK MAnAGeMent

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings disclosed in note 26, net of cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, various reserves 
and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an on-going basis. As part of this review, 
the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing 
debt.
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Financial assets
AT FVTPL- Held for trading investments 39,540 –
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 367,053 451,988

406,593 451,988

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 264,055 244,910

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The major financial instruments of the Group include trade and other receivables, held for trading 
investments, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank 
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments include market risk (represented by currency risk, interest rate risk and 
equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out 
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency transactions and foreign currency 
borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group manages and monitors foreign exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures 
are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has entered into several foreign 
currency forward contracts to mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
at the end of the reporting period that are considered significant by management are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

  

HK$ 68,561 48,146 47,941 85,098
RMB 2,258 800 2,606 11,455
EUR 4,960 1,544 5,031 1,378

  

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged with USD, currency risk in relation to HK$ denominated monetary assets/
liabilities is expected to be minimal.

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5% increase and decrease in USD 
against RMB and EUR. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally 
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for 
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On this basis, there will be an increase in post-tax loss 
(2017: decrease in post-tax loss) for the year where USD strengthens against EUR by 5%, and 
vice versa; an increase in post-tax loss (2017: increase in post-tax loss) for the year where USD 
strengthens against RMB by 5%, and vice versa.

RMB impact eUR impact

2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Increase) decrease in post-tax loss (15) (445) (3) 7
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the fixed-rate bank deposits. 
However, management considers the fair value interest rate risk is insignificant as they are relatively 
short-term.

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to floating-rate bank balances 
and bank borrowings as at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017. It is the Group’s policy to keep 
its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The 
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate 
exposure should the need arise.

For the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on 
financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The Group’s 
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rate arising from 
the Group’s floating rate bank borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 
variable-rate bank borrowings and bank balances at the end of the reporting period.

The analysis is prepared assuming the outstanding amount at the end of the reporting period was 
outstanding for the whole year. For the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, 50 basis points 
increase or decrease for bank borrowings and bank balances is used, when reporting interest rate 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates for bank borrowings and bank balances.

If interest rates had been higher/lower as indicated above, and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s loss for the year would decrease/increase by approximately HK$45,000 
(2017: loss for the year would decrease/increase by approximately HK$764,000).

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through their held for trading investments. The Group’s 
equity price risk is concentrated on equity instruments quoted on the Stock Exchange. The 
management manages the exposure to price risk by maintaining a portfolio of investments with 
different risk and return profiles.
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks 
at the end of the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose, the sensitivity rate at 10% is 
applied as a result of the volatile financial market.

If the price of the respective held for trading investments had been 10% lower, the Group’s loss 
after taxation would increase by HK$3,302,000.

In management’s opinion the sensitivity analysis was unrepresentative of the inherent equity price 
risk as at the year end of March 31, 2018, the exposure does not reflect the exposure during 
the year.

Credit risk

As at March 31, 2018, the maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will cause a financial 
loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts 
of the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful 
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit history. Credit sales of products are made 
to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount 
of debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk 
is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on trade receivables by geographical locations is mainly in the 
North America which accounted for 52% (2017: 54%) of the total trade receivables balance at March 31, 
2018. The Group also has concentration of credit risk on its five largest customers which represent 47% 
(2017: 34%) of the total trade receivables balance and of which the largest customer represents 19% 
(2017: 11%) of the total trade receivables balance. For both years, the five largest customers, which are 
engaged in garment retailing and are mainly located in the North America, have good repayment history 
and credit quality with reference to the track records of these customers under internal assessment by 
the Group.

The credit risk on liquid funds of the Group is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. The 
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with the relevant loan 
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically bank borrowings with 
a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the 
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are 
based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

2018

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

on demand 
or less than 

1 month
1 – 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year

over 
1 year

total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
March 31, 

2018
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables – 110,287 6,202 1,634 – 118,123 118,123
Bank borrowings (note)
 – floating-rate 4.00 133,333 403 1,851 10,695 146,282 145,932

243,620 6,605 3,485 10,695 264,405 264,055
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

2017

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

On demand 
or less than 

1 month
1 – 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year

Over 
1 year

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
March 31, 

2017
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables – 100,771 17,558 171 – 118,500 118,500
Bank borrowings (note)
 – floating-rate 3.66 111,411 402 1,837 13,067 126,717 126,410

212,182 17,960 2,008 13,067 245,217 244,910

Note:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 
March 31, 2018, the aggregate principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to HK$133,132,000 (2017: HK$111,210,000). Taking 
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary 
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that the bank loans will be repaid within one year after the end of the 
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. The aggregate principal and interest 
cash outflows of bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are amounted to HK$135,029,000 (2017: HK$112,761,000).

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value

Financial assets
March 31,

2018
March 31,

2017
Fair value 
hierarchy

valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)

HK’000 HK’000

Held for trading investments
Listed equity securities 39,540 – Level 1 Quoted prices in an  

 active market

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no Level 2 or 3 fair value measurements financial 
instruments.
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35. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1 during the year.

Except for the financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the directors of the 
Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

36. ReConCILIAtIon oF LIABILItIes ARIsInG FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIvItIes

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flow were, or future 
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Bank borrowings
HK$’000

At April 1, 2017 126,410

Financing cash flows 13,837
Exchange adjustments 5,685

 

At March 31, 2018 145,932
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37. stAteMent oF FInAnCIAL posItIon

2018 2017
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

 

non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 458 671
Investments in subsidiaries 23,429 59,313
Amount due from a subsidiary 166,258 164,185
Deferred tax assets 30 20

190,175 224,189

Current assets
Deposits and other receivables 639 1,010
Amounts due from subsidiaries 178,798 99,694
Pledged bank deposits – 80,000
Bank balances and cash 11,424 69,691

190,861 250,395

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 2,749 3,167
Amounts due to subsidiaries 68,046 76,019
Bank borrowings 15,000 15,000

85,795 94,186

net current assets 105,066 156,209

total assets less current liabilities 295,241 380,398

Capital and reserves
Share capital 254,112 254,112
Retained profits (a) 41,129 126,286

295,241 380,398

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on June 28, 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Martin tung Hau Man Raymond tung Wai Man
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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37. stAteMent oF FInAnCIAL posItIon (Continued)

Note:

(a) The retained profits of the Company at March 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Retained profits
HK$’000

At April 1, 2016 321,481
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (195,195)

At March 31, 2017 126,286

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (85,157)
 

At March 31, 2018 41,129
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For the year ended March 31,

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ResULts

Revenue 1,372,616 1,283,034 1,047,486 970,969 998,070

(Loss) profit before tax (76,069) 191,180 (65,528) (119,695) (42,347)

(Loss) profit for the year
 attributable to owners of the Company (43,889) 197,578 (65,451) (119,638) (46,546)

HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
(Loss) earnings per share
 – Basic (10.7) 46.8 (15.5) (28.3) (10.0)

As at March 31,

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets AnD LIABILItIes

Total assets 1,070,994 925,904 837,242 757,571 800,197
Total liabilities (549,670) (278,061) (276,729) (290,563) (332,212)

521,324 647,843 560,513 467,008 467,985

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 506,022 652,097 565,797 473,111 476,262
Non-controlling interests 15,302 (4,254) (5,284) (6,103) (8,277)

521,324 647,843 560,513 467,008 467,985
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